Portland State University PDXScholar

Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

2009

Community, Conversation, and Conflict: a Study of Deliberation and Moderation in a Collaborative Political Weblog

Samantha Isabella Soma Portland State University

Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Follow this and additional works at: https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds Part of the <u>American Politics Commons</u>, and the <u>Urban Studies and Planning Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Soma, Samantha Isabella, "Community, Conversation, and Conflict: a Study of Deliberation and Moderation in a Collaborative Political Weblog" (2009). *Dissertations and Theses*. Paper 1447.

10.15760/etd.1446

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of PDXScholar. For more information, please contact pdxscholar@pdx.edu.

COMMUNITY, CONVERSATION, AND CONFLICT: A STUDY OF DELIBERATION AND MODERATION IN A COLLABORATIVE POLITICAL WEBLOG

by

SAMANTHA ISABELLA SOMA

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY in URBAN STUDIES

Dissertation Committee Sy Adler, Chair Charles Heying Rob Gould José Padín Susan Conrad

Portland State University ©2009

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is with great pleasure that I convey my gratitude to the many people who have provided such mentorship and support to me throughout the dissertation process. My committee members were all encouraging and challenging taskmasters. I am grateful for their care, attention, and diversity of experience; this work is much richer because of their insight and feedback. Dr. Charles Heying always made time for me, and our numerous and wide-ranging conversations were a pleasure. His dedication and respect for the process made the end product much better than it might have been. Dr. Robert Gould kept me focused on the human element of computer-mediated communication and doctoral study. Dr. José Padín and Dr. Susan Conrad both inspired me to connect this work to the wider world, while also attending to the necessities of addressing my initial research question. Dr. Sy Adler, my chair, has been on my side from comprehensive exams through the dissertation, while also helping me to become a more precise writer and thinker. His generosity and rigor have given me a worthy model to follow.

I was fortunate to receive material support and professional enrichment from my work as a graduate mentor in University Studies, as an assessment graduate assistant with the Center for Academic Excellence, and as a teacher in the School of Urban Studies.

I have had many friends and mentors at Portland State, and a detailed listing of all of the reasons I appreciate them would be exhaustive and exhausting! On the

i

faculty and administrative side, Cheryl Ramette, Connie Ozawa, Richard White, Masami Nishishiba, Craig Wollner, Ethan Seltzer, Yves Labissiere, Tracy Braden, Martha Balshem, Melody Rose, Victoria Gilbert, and Rod Johnson have all exemplified professionalism and care for their tasks. I directly experienced the benefits of being in an interdisciplinary program through enjoyable and wide-ranging discussions with my fellow Urban Studies colleagues: John Provo, Kathey Sutter, Janet Hammer, Alex Welsch, John Hall, Charlie Santo, Ahmed Al-Geneidy, Jaturapat Bhiromkaew, Jost Lottes, Nathalie Huguet, Lynn Weigand, Leanne Serbulo, Loulie Brown, Andrée Tremoulet, Bobby Cochran, Silas Crowfoot, and Stephan Brown.

I am thankful for the many interested and supportive friends who have shared parts of this journey with me, who are too numerous to name. The people who have been present from the beginning deserve special recognition. They are: Brandy Parris, who has been an exemplar of lifelong learning and sisterhood; Brenda Peterson, with whom I've enjoyed many hours walking and talking; Ali Greco, with whom I shared the doctoral writing process; Molly Sokolow Hayden, who offered spiritual insight and creativity; Isbel Ingham, who helped me focus on what is essential; Megan Millard, whose pragmatism and intellect helped me maintain momentum; Jim Livermore, whose supportive and rigorous commentary helped me to raise my sights; Joy Margheim, whose running philosophy works just as well for writing; and Gretchen Luhr, whose enthusiasm and tenacity are inspirational. Dr. Shanna Eller generously provided a quiet, cozy, wi-fi free place where I could code, courier

ii

services, tough love, and has been a lucky charm on more than one occasion. Dr. Kim Hoffman offered a private sanctuary on campus, and insightful feedback there and elsewhere. Dr. J.R. "Jones" Estes has been an intellectual lighthouse and loving friend.

I've also been fortunate to have such a wonderful, supportive family. My father, Philip Soma, would have been so proud of me, as my mother, Averil Soma already is; her pride in her daughter "the Ph.D." has been luminous. My brothers, Cas and Phil, have inspired me their whole lives; I'm sure I learned perseverance by trying to keep up with them! They each chose wonderful wives, Lyn and Diane, who have been excellent partners to them and friends to me. My nieces and nephews: Nicole, Taylor, Philip, and Jordan are more everything than I could've imagined; I look forward to seeing them set and reach their own lifelong goals.

My husband, Bill DeRouchey, has been my foundation, my touchstone, my wailing wall, and my mirror, helping me to remember what I wanted to say and why I wanted to say it. His generosity, encouragement, and delight in my success are among my life's greatest blessings. While I might have been able to accomplish this without his support, I'm so grateful that I never had to.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | i |
|--|-------|
| LIST OF TABLES | .viii |
| LIST OF FIGURES | ix |
| PREFACE | X |
| CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| The Internet in Daily Life | 3 |
| Current Research | 6 |
| Context of Study | 7 |
| Rationale | 9 |
| Implications | 12 |
| CHAPTER 2 CONTEXT: A BRIEF HISTORY OF ONLINE COMMUNITIES | 13 |
| Online Communication History | 13 |
| Usenet | 13 |
| World Wide Web and Weblogs | 13 |
| Community Blogs | 15 |
| Metafilter | 16 |
| Moderation in Community Blogs | 18 |
| Collaborative Blogs | 20 |
| Daily Kos Overview | 21 |
| Site Overview and Images | 22 |
| Daily Kos Site History and Format | 24 |
| Site History | 24 |
| Format | 25 |
| Membership | 26 |
| The Front Page – Stories and Front Page Authors | 27 |
| Open Threads Stories | 27 |
| Diaries | 28 |
| Commenting | 29 |

| Tip Jar | |
|--|----|
| Rating / Mojo | |
| Trusted User Status | |
| Tags | |
| Researcher Background | |
| CHAPTER 3 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | |
| Deliberation | |
| Deliberation Online | |
| Online Group Dynamics | |
| Deliberation Components | |
| Previous Research on Online Deliberation | |
| Usenet | |
| Minnesota E-Democracy Project | |
| The Electronic Dialogue Project in Campaign 2000 | |
| Importance of website design to deliberation | |
| Moderation to Improve Discussion | |
| Top-Down Moderation | |
| Community Moderation | |
| Summary and Research Question | |
| Conclusion | |
| CHAPTER 4 METHODOLOGY | 61 |
| Case Selection | 61 |
| Description of Pie Fight Incident | 64 |
| Total Number of Authors, Comments, Ratings | |
| Definition of Terms | |
| Diary | |
| Comment | 67 |
| Thread | 67 |
| Rating | |
| Research Corpus Selection | |

| Observed Frequency Calculation | 71 |
|---|---------------------------------|
| Comment Coding Overview | 72 |
| Codebook Development and Coding Procedure | 72 |
| Individual Comment as Unit of Meaning | 74 |
| Researcher Developed Codes | 75 |
| Machine Codes | 79 |
| Layout of Threads for Coding | 79 |
| Reading and Coding Procedure | |
| Statistical Procedure | 83 |
| Comment Rating Analysis | 84 |
| Research Question and Hypotheses | 85 |
| Discussion of Procedure for Hypothesis 1 | 87 |
| Discussion of Procedure for Hypothesis 2 and Hypothesis 3 | 90 |
| CHAPTER 5 FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION | 95 |
| Overview of Data Set Statistics | 95 |
| Discussion of findings | 96 |
| Findings Based on Agreement | 96 |
| Findings Based on Reserve | 99 |
| Findings Based on Emotional Tone | 101 |
| Findings Based on Discussion of Ratings | |
| Findings Based on Profanity | 104 |
| Findings Based on Community as Entity | 106 |
| Findings Based on Group Reputation | 107 |
| Findings Based on Interpersonal + Topic Relatedness | 110 |
| | |
| Findings Based on Humor + Other Comment Codes | 111 |
| Findings Based on Humor + Other Comment Codes Findings Based on Metacommunication Negative | 111 114 |
| Findings Based on Humor + Other Comment Codes Findings Based on Metacommunication Negative Additional Observations on Ratings | 111 114 115 |
| Findings Based on Humor + Other Comment Codes Findings Based on Metacommunication Negative Additional Observations on Ratings Ratings Splits within Comments – Use of 1 and 4 | 111 114 115 115 |
| Findings Based on Humor + Other Comment Codes Findings Based on Metacommunication Negative Additional Observations on Ratings Ratings Splits within Comments – Use of 1 and 4 Middle of the Road Ratings – Use of 2 and 3 | 111 114 115 115 115 |

| Limitations | |
|--|--|
| Hidden Comments | |
| Ratings Timeframe | |
| Social Contagion and Individual Ratings Analysis | |
| New Ratings Format | |
| Identity and Authenticity | |
| CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION | |
| Deliberation | |
| Negative Communication | |
| Deliberative and Pro-Group communication | |
| Future Research | |
| Further Study: Daily Kos Pie Fight Dataset | |
| Further Study: Daily Kos Community | |
| Further Study: Spiral of Silence | |
| Further Study: Moderation Schemes | |
| Conclusion | |
| REFERENCES | |
| APPENDIX A: CONTENT CODING MATRIX | |
| APPENDIX B: MACHINE CODES | |
| APPENDIX C: CORPUS CODING STATISTICS | |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1. Summary of Ratings Allocated to Comments within the Dataset | 71 |
|--|-----|
| Table 2. Dataset Statistics | 95 |
| Table 3. Findings Based on Reserve | 100 |
| Table 4. Findings Based on Emotional Tone | |
| Table 5. Findings Based on Ratings | 103 |
| Table 6. Findings Based on Profanity | 105 |
| Table 7. Findings Based on Community as Entity | 106 |
| Table 8. Findings Based on Group Reputation | 108 |
| Table 9. Findings Based on Topic Relatedness + Interpersonal | 110 |
| Table 10. Findings Based on Humor + Off Topic | 111 |
| Table 11. Findings Based on Humor + Profanity | 112 |
| Table 12. Findings Based on Metacommunication Negative | 114 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. Front Page of the Daily Kos Website | 22 |
|---|----|
| Figure 2. Ratings Description | 23 |
| Figure 3. Diary Coding Example | 81 |
| Figure 4. Agreement Factor Distribution for Corpus | 97 |
| Figure 5. Correlation of High Ratings with Agreement Factor | 98 |

PREFACE

As a longtime user of computer-mediated communication (CMC), I have direct experience of its utility and benefit in staying connected with people from whom I am distant. As an interested observer of online political blogs, I had long anticipated that they would eventually harness the energies of disparate populations and attain political relevance in the United States' political arena, as seemed to be occurring in election year 2008. As a student of Urban Studies, I have been interested in the possibilities the Internet offers for distributed communication and community development. The triumph over space and time that such technology offers seems magical, although its practice is oftentimes much earthier, grounded as it can be in the lowest common denominator of communication practices. As important as it is for face-to-face communities to participate and work together, I am inspired and hopeful about the possibilities that participation in online communities might afford, on a state and even national scale.

For various reasons, and at various times, computer-mediated communication can be problematic for new and experienced members alike. Text based CMC's lack of social cues, depersonalization, and anonymity can result in ineffective or abusive communication, which in turn facilitates negative behaviors that are not easily checked. Recent developments such as community administered reputation systems or community moderation within discussion groups might minimize these problems,

Х

thereby extending the experience of online participation to diverse populations which previously may have found CMC too intimidating to attempt.

In order to evaluate the effects of the above developments, I first undertook an examination of the means by which conflict resolution could occur in an online community, studying the processes by which community members enacted conflict resolution principles within the context of an online conflict. My conflict resolution Master's thesis (Soma 2007) studied the ways in which conflict is enacted in an online community, and involved a qualitative investigation of conflict resolution and other social behaviors within an online political community. Specifically, I did an inductive content analysis to determine how the community discussed its conflict, how it used the moderation system as a weapon and a tool, and what avenues community members used if they felt that the conflict itself was intractable or at least too difficult to handle.

What I discovered was that conflict resolution can and did occur within this community, and that new communication behaviors were being employed as well. I also discovered that the mechanisms that were intended to improve communication were sometimes applied inappropriately. The study community has a comment rating / moderation system that allows for the public evaluation of the value of commentary within the community. The rating system was intended to be used to elevate thoughtful comments and inspire commenters to create valuable commentary, while also decreasing visibility of abusive or unproductive comments and of course reducing their frequency. The lessons learned from that research caused me to wonder about

xi

how this community was really using the comment rating system, and whether it was being applied in service of what could be considered specific discourse or community identity goals, to facilitate more deliberative communication.

This led me to the current research. I examined comments responding to communications by the site owner about a community-wide conflict event that I studied previously¹. However, in this research I have undertaken a more extensive content analysis combined with a statistical analysis of the ways in which ratings were assigned to specific types of comments. I have determined that the community used the rating system both to further its discourse goals and to enforce and support community norms.

The rating system that seemed to be of benefit to the community at the time of this research, is unfortunately no longer in use at the community in question. It is my hope that the coding scheme I have developed will be useful when examining how the current rating system is being used within the studied online community, as well as to evaluate comment moderation rating systems similar to the original within other political communities. Lastly, a variation on the coding scheme could be used to examine other types of online communities as a means of evaluating other ratings systems' fitness in supporting community discourse goals and in enforcing community standards.

¹ The conflict event, known within the community as The Pie Fight, concerned the placement of an advertisement that some members of the community found objectionable. The ensuing conversation concerned issues of the community's reputation, purpose, ownership, and future. It is described more completely on page 64.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Concerns about computer-mediated communication have existed for as long as the medium itself. Issues ranging from the depersonalization of conflicts to the dehumanization of conflicants, the demise of "real" community values and supports, and the fact that, as was humorously posited in a New Yorker cartoon, "On the Internet nobody knows you're a dog," have led to legitimate concerns about identity and anonymity in the online world. However, the increasing prevalence of CMC in the daily life of many Americans means that these problems are not going to disappear. Rather than complaining about them, users and developers need to discover means to mitigate those problems that are known to exist when people gather and communicate online.

The Internet also represents a promising online space and opportunity for people who are separated by distance and time to coordinate and participate in unison toward a shared goal, as was seen in the 2008 Presidential campaign of Barack Obama. As participants in online communities grow more proficient in their communication and organizing efforts, so too can those online communities develop a larger influence on the off-line world. One oft-touted benefit of online communication is that it facilitates the interaction of people who might not otherwise meet. The benefits of communication from a distance are tremendous and, barring language barriers, allow connections between individuals around the world. While there is a concern that people who seek information and community online are only spending

time in venues with others like themselves, members are likely to encounter diverse viewpoints within communities' larger groups of affiliation (Stromer-Galley 2003).

This research examines a popular online political community and the means by which this community seeks to moderate its discussions in the service of more efficient and deliberative communication. The larger an online community grows, the more difficult becomes the practice of comment moderation and the more likely that the community becomes a target of trolls² or inexperienced communicators who waste both time and bandwidth. Comment moderation tools were developed to enable community members to self-police communication, placing both the burden and the privilege of maintaining community standards on the community at large.

But how well do these tools actually work? Are they being used to homogenize the debate and quell dissenting voices? Are they being used to create in-groups and out-groups, which also can lead to homogenization, stagnation, or insularity? Or are the tools being used as advertised: to quell offensive or harmful communication practices in the service of more and better communication? This research seeks to address these questions by focusing on the way a comment rating / community moderation system (described in more detail in Chapter 2) is used in a specific online

² A troll is a newsgroup post that is deliberately incorrect, intended to provoke readers; or a person who makes such a post. From: http://www.archivemag.co.uk/gloss/T.html Trolling was originally intended as a means to bait other members of the community into responding to messages that were intentionally obtuse or inflammatory. Community members who were in the know would not respond to these posts, so trolling became a means by which in-groups and out-groups were created, and at times could actual solidify a community's bonds. Trolling is primarily attention-seeking behavior; the main purpose is to engage the community's energies toward the troll, rather than toward a wider conversation. Troll posts are more frequently encountered in online communities that deal with socially divisive subjects such as racism, sexism, and politics, but no online community is immune.

community. The main question this research seeks to answer is whether a communityadministered comment moderation system helps that community to support conditions of deliberation.

The present research examined a moderation system used in an online political blog to determine how it is being used in the discussion of a site-wide conflict, and to evaluate its use as a tool to enforce the conditions of deliberation. I sought to understand what types of comments received good or bad ratings from an online community. I also sought to establish whether or not there is a relationship between the type of thread in which a comment appears and the ratings behavior that occurs. To do this, I analyzed a corpus of comments concerning a singular event affecting the community and its members. The content analysis coding of those comments was followed by a statistical analysis of the ways the comment ratings were applied to specific subsets of comments within the main corpus. I then made conclusions about how the community used the rating system, and whether it appeared to support deliberative as well as community identity communication goals.

The Internet in Daily Life

The Internet is rapidly becoming the communication medium of choice for an increasing number of Americans. A 2003 Pew Internet and American Life Project report found that online communities were increasing in scope (Horrigan 2003). A later study found that people were going online to supplement or augment their offline communities and social capital (Boase, Horrigan, Wellman, and Rainie 2006). Time

Magazine named Internet site YouTube as its 2006 Invention of the Year in the same issue it named Internet Members as Person of the Year (Grossman 2006). The technology that drives YouTube is seen as an exemplar of the newly emerging "social web", also known as Web 2.0, which relies on community members' co-creation of the content of the site, and of its community (Madden and Fox 2006). People turn to these online communities to fulfill professional and social needs, such as the creation of professional social networks (http://www.linkedin.com), spirited discussion of television shows (http://televisionwithoutpity.com), "due diligence" research and information on political candidates and issues (http://www.mydd.com), and the sharing of photos (http://www.flickr.com), videos (http://www.youtube.com), or "micro-blog" snippets of daily life (http://www.twitter.com).

Online communication studies conducted to date have looked at the means and timeframes in which people interact: synchronously with chat and web conferencing programs, and asynchronously via Usenet, newsgroups, and email groups (Lemus, Seibold, Flanagin, and Metzger 2004). Some studies have measured interaction in a broad cross-section of Usenet groups (Rafaeli and Sudweeks 1997), or within various political or issue-oriented Usenet groups (Smith 1999). Group weblogs (blogs) are a newer form of online community that have developed extremely rapidly, and which affect an even broader base of people than Usenet groups, but which have not yet received much study.

Blogs initially gained popularity because they are more visually oriented, provide easier access to information, and require a lower technological threshold for use and enjoyment than Usenet groups or Listservs. Group blogs have gained a larger online audience for several reasons. First, the inclusion of more authors means that the available content will be more diverse, which increases content accessibility to a wider audience. Second, they usually enjoy increased visibility in more traditional media, which increases the probability of their discovery by the casual user. Last, for those groups whose blogs are public, there is more open access to the information and dialogue that is contained therein, unlike Usenet, chat, and many email discussion groups, which typically require registration in order to read or participate in the discussion. As in Usenet and other discussion groups, the conversations and stories that exist there generally persist over time. When combined with increased public access, this gives current and future community members the ability to look back at previous conversations or decisions made by the community that has formed around the group blog (Wright, Varey, and Chesney 2005). Either on- or offline, a shared history and communal memory increase community cohesion, and thus community longevity (Etzioni and Etzioni 1999).

Because online conversations on political blogs persist over time and represent the communities they serve, it is important that they are representative of a wide range of views, so that the community is represented in detail, not just broad brush strokes of opinion. One way to facilitate the expression of diverse views is by regulating

community participation. This requires a means of culling out comments that do not constructively advance in-depth discussions or dialogue, but without sanitizing the debate to such an extent that there is no apparent difference of views.

Current Research

Some previous research on community and computer-mediated communication has been somewhat contrived, extrapolating from the results of experimental settings and surveys that might not be as applicable to conditions experienced outside of the laboratory. The current research was conducted using the communications of an existing online community, and as such helps to localize the findings in a real-world context. One of the benefits of studying a previously existing online community is that the examined behavior is natural and unselfconscious, as opposed to other CMC research which used laboratory experiments, or other deliberative research whose subjects could not help but be aware of the researchers' goals (Wilhelm 1999).

This research differs from other examinations of online community and communication in three significant ways. First, it focuses on the interactions that took place in an already established community. Second, it analyzes conversation about a specific conflict event within that community, an event that received significant community and external media attention, and which was still referenced on the site in 2008, almost three years after the event occurred. Finally, it uses real-time judgments made by community members to assess their community values, particularly concerning deliberative communication goals.

Doing this research in a pre-existing community takes advantage of the fact that the persistence of conversation allows evaluation of dialogue concerning the event to take place in the same locale and context in which it initially occurred. The visual rhetoric of the community (comments are displayed in a threaded format), and the fact that responses can be easily attached to the comment they respond to minimizes the possibility of misinterpretation. This particular venue also has another benefit, in that it allows its members to assign a value rating to the comments they deem either especially valuable or especially lacking in value to the community. By examining which threads (and comments within threads) received the highest ratings from community members, I was able to determine whether the community members value comments that are in the context of a deliberative conversation. Because trolling or non-relevant comments are systematically removed from the discussion by virtue of the community's moderating practices, I was able to evaluate which type of individual comments that are, by default, deemed to be of value to the conversation. The comment moderation rating system was introduced in order to improve the value of the commentary that is encountered on the site. This ratings system enabled me to draw my conclusions about community values based on the comments that have received the most attention from community members.

Context of Study

Internet usage is increasing in scope across all demographic categories, with nearly 88% of the American population routinely going online as of 2004 (Fallows

2004). As of June, 2008, the Pew Internet & American Life project reported that a "Record-Breaking 46% of Americans" had used the Internet to gain information about politics in the current Presidential election cycle (Smith and Rainie 2008:1). These uses ranged from seeking news and information about the campaign, receiving candidate emails, and engaging in political debate. It is clear that the Internet is now an accepted venue in which to engage in political debate.

Younger Internet users are becoming more civically and politically engaged (Lopez, Levine, Both, Kiesa, Kirby, and Marcelo 2006), which is welcome news considering they are the demographic which had been found to be least likely to vote or to engage in other civic behaviors (Putnam 2000). Internet users have also been found to watch less television, spend more time with friends, and are more socially active than their non-Internet using peers (Cole, Suman, Schramm, Lunn, and Aquino 2003).

In more recent developments, interactivity on political or media websites has evolved, offering more substantive benefits than merely the ability to fill out an online comment or donation form. For example, the Barack Obama campaign website hosted an active online community, offered telephone scripts and phone numbers to people who wanted to contact voters, and offered the ability to create a private "microsite" that allowed for in-depth interaction between the campaign's supporters. Candidates' sites are becoming more sophisticated and involve more social networking tools designed to get out the vote and increase donations, but it is not clear whether

deliberation take place on such sites, outside the support of a specific candidate. This more personal and dynamic approach to online campaign outreach could be a means of increasing political participation, and subsequently, involvement on the part of Internet users.

In spite of the problems inherent in CMC, participation in collaborative political weblogs could form a gateway to political discussion that is more interactive and contextualized than that which occurs on other political or media websites. An earlier problem with political websites was that they either didn't offer the ability to interact with fellow constituents, or in the case of some comments areas, they were free-for-alls similar to unmoderated Usenet groups, sometimes with even less conversational salience.

Although there have been many studies of communication within political groups on Usenet (Davis 1999; Kelly, Fisher, and Smith 2005; Sack, Kelly, and Dale 2005; Wilhelm 1999) thus far, much of the focus has been on interactivity and social or communication networks than on the communication itself. Furthermore, there has been little examination of what type of communication is valued by those who participate in political weblogs, and whether or not deliberation can occur within them, through an examination of the community's use of its own moderation tools.

Rationale

Given their increasing prominence in civic life, the lack of recent research on deliberation within political weblogs points to a need for study. The comments

community of a political weblog provides an excellent venue for this type of examination. As in the research on Usenet groups, the interactions that occur are recorded and may be analyzed within the original context. The comments are threaded, which increases communication salience and interactivity, thus increasing the chances that conversation and deliberation can occur. In some cases community moderation in the form of comment rating can give insight into what types of communication are valued versus what types of communication are sanctioned.

Examining a popular political comments-enabled community-moderated weblog to measure the way the community uses the moderation system is a good first step toward determining if these types of venues can indeed provide a place where indepth political discussion can occur, as opposed to replicating the limitations of Usenet discussion groups. Early electronic communities had few methods to deal with or mitigate conflict (Usenet, particularly). Typically, they relied on the expulsion of disruptive members, or in later cases, barred entry by requiring users to register before they were allowed to participate in the community. This led to the perception that electronic communities are either places of high conflict or of limited diversity of views. In the first case, this limited their usefulness for those who do not work well within these constraints. In the latter case, it limited their value as places of deliberation or objects of study. However, I would argue that the recent developments have the effect of improving community functionality and, as such, increase the value

of electronic communities as places where diverse viewpoints and in-depth interaction might be found.

While people typically go online to meet needs that can't be met offline, these needs are different for each person. A person who has many like-minded others with whom she can discuss political issues is more likely to go online to seek different examinations of an issue. Similarly, a person who might hold his tongue in the offline world where his views are in the minority would be more likely to seek to connect with people who share his viewpoints. As more people move online to discuss issues, they will want tools that enhance deliberation, such as more sophisticated interfaces that assist the reader in digesting or dismissing certain types of content. A comment ratings system can also help those people whose time is limited to screen out the commentary that has been judged as less relevant or valuable by their community members. However, it is important to recognize the danger that Sunstein (2001) might consider is inherent in this type of moderation – that members will merely use the ratings system to homogenize the debate rather than value the comments for their contribution no matter what their actual position on the discussion.

I undertook an examination of this new social space. My goal was to measure its current ability to serve as a venue for differing viewpoints to emerge and be accessed, via the evaluation of the types of comment moderation that occur. The prospects of CMC and the Internet in general as a tool for increased political deliberation have been discussed a great deal in the wake of both the 2000 and 2004

elections. However, if CMC becomes just another area where people of like minds merely reinforce one another's views, this promise becomes muted.

Implications

This research will be the first step in evaluating whether or not a comment ratings system could be an important tool to helping online political deliberation groups improve their quality of discussion about topics of interest to the community. In addition to providing insight into how one community uses comment moderation, my findings also provide information about how comment moderation was used to enforce community norms, what types of commentary were chosen to be sanctioned so that differences of opinion could be surfaced and evaluated, and how moderation may be used so that deliberation instead of disputation may occur.

This research adds to the existing body of knowledge examining communication within an online political community, and will be of value to researchers who wish to understand how comment moderation might be more usefully employed to address community deliberation goals and enforce community social norms. This research will also be of use to managers and participants in online communities where group process is valued but not necessarily modeled, and may persuade them of the value of a complex moderation system versus merely ascribing singular positive or negative comment ratings.

CHAPTER 2 CONTEXT: A BRIEF HISTORY OF ONLINE COMMUNITIES

This chapter provides a brief overview of the evolution of the Internet as we know it today. Usenet newsgroups, personal Internet websites, community weblogs, and the research site for this study, the Daily Kos, are discussed. The Daily Kos is a political weblog with community-moderated discussion. The machinations of the Daily Kos site are described, and the chapter concludes with a discussion of my own background and experience within online discussion groups.

Online Communication History

Usenet

Usenet is a communications system that supports email and file transfers from one computer to another via a global computer network. Usenet is solely text-based, and provides access to the thousands of past and present email based discussion groups, called newsgroups or Listservs. Listserv is a software program that facilitates the administration and moderation of Usenet newsgroups, which are sometimes termed Listservs. Listservs are organized via category with private or public access to the group and its archives.

World Wide Web and Weblogs

In 1994, the release of Mosaic, a graphical member interface web browser, marked the beginning of the transition of the Internet from a text-based communications network to the more visual medium we use today. Previous Internet use was limited to the display of text on a page, useful primarily for email communication, and later for Usenet newsgroups. The development of web browsers that could display graphics in addition to text was capitalized on by numerous corporations who saw in the Internet the next marketing frontier, leading to the commercial dot-com boom which lasted from approximately 1995-2001.

In the late 90's, non-commercial personal websites published by web developers became increasingly popular, leading to the creation of online publishing software for non-technical web-publishers. pitas [sic], the first free build-your-ownweb-page creation software became available in July, 1999; it was followed by Blogger one month later (Blood 2002). Both publishing tools enabled less technical members to easily create their own web pages, included a mechanism for 'pasting' links, and provided a layout so that creating and posting web pages became as simple as using a word processor. The increasing popularity of personal web logs (known as blogs) encouraged even more web surfing as bloggers sought to find the most unique and/or newsworthy links to share with their readership. The focus shifted from personal news and information about the individual site owner toward unique or informative content presented on the web at large. Online publishing was transformed from a personal journaling space to a one-to-many content delivery stream, similar to a radio broadcast, with site owners publishing links and commentary with an increasing awareness of their audience.

One early shortcoming of these sites was that they remained a broadcast oneto-many format. This precluded the interaction that would have deepened the

conversation started by the blogger, until the addition of commenting functionality on the part of several blog software publishers transformed the medium once again. This development enabled readers to talk back to the blog owner, and to other readers of the blog, evolving blogs from a broadcast format to a place where two-way communication could occur, and creating the possibility for communities to form around a single person's site.

The "blogging revolution" engendered a great deal of publicity and discussion about the purposes and uses of personal blogs. Were they merely an enhanced version of Usenet newsgroups, a means by which individuals could connect with other "weirdoes" like themselves, or were they actually the means by which true online communities could be formed? Beginning in 1999, numerous news articles hailed the advent of this new medium as a boon for personal publishing, and the number of blogs has increased exponentially every year since. In 2003, the estimate was that there would be over ten million hosted blogs by the end of 2004 (Perseus 2003). In 2005, the Pew Internet and American Life project found that more than 8 million people had created blogs and 32 million people regularly read them (Rainie 2005).

Community Blogs

Community blogs, combining the discussion capabilities of Usenet news groups with the display capabilities of independent blogs, allowed for multiple people to post links and commentary to a single blog. Slashdot and Metafilter are the bestknown early examples of this format, although there are now innumerable different

collaborative blog/filter sites. Community blogs/filters give front-page publication power to multiple people, either via invitation as in the case of BlueOregon.com, or to any member who logs in, broadening the field of discourse to as many as would like to participate. Not all of the members in filter blogs post links, or even comment on the front page, but the presence of non-participants (termed lurkers) is of much less import when there is such a large but anonymous contingent of community members (or merely readers), and is rarely mentioned by members of the online communities (Nonnecke and Preece 2000). The potentially more serious "free rider" problem of non-participators taking from the community while giving nothing back is usually offset by the number of participants in an online space. This unequal participation is also less noticeable than it would be in a face-to-face venue; online lurkers are invisible, and while they don't participate in the gift culture itself, they don't necessarily diminish it by their non-communication either (Kollock and Smith 1996; Preece 2001).

Metafilter

Metafilter is one of the first community blogs, created in 1999 to "filter the best of the web." Discussion subjects on Metafilter run the gamut from politics to pop culture to personal problems and are only limited by the efforts of the community members to find interesting web site links to add to the discussion. Usenet lists are organized by topic (such as alt.politics.party, alt.soc.abortion, alt.tv.lost) which is designed to screen out any "not relevant" content – in Metafilter (and other

collaborative blogs) any topic posted by a community member is considered to be relevant to its member base. Posts are seldom deleted although the community members might register their disagreement or disgust with those links that are personally offensive. Matthew Haughey, the site owner, controls who is able to participate via a minimal registration hurdle, and, on rare occasion, will remove unrepentant or obstructive members from the community.³ Display of comments on Metafilter and similar community blogs is sequential, with the oldest comment closer to the top of the page, and subsequent comments appearing below. To indicate a specific response, commenters can either use the person's name or comment theme, or cut and paste the relevant part of the comment to which they are responding.

Metafilter also provides a separate area to address the conversations and interactions that take place on the main site. Metatalk⁴ allows members to discuss posting etiquette, problems with specific members or comments, and other questions or comments about the site "offline" from the discussions that take place on the main page. The ability to discuss the state of the community adds another level of interactivity to the site – rather than grouse about issues "in secret," the discussions about the health of the community take place where those interested can participate in the discussion. Those who are not interested in community management discussions

³ See the thread concerning the banning of "Rightwinger" by site owner "mathowie" here: http://metatalk.metafilter.com/mefi/419#2915 for discussion of a rare instance in which a member was banned from the Metafilter community.

⁴ http://www.metatalk.com.

do not have to opt out, because they take place elsewhere. Members are free to participate as their time and interest dictate.

In addition to the site's front page there are additional community pages that promote members' personal projects, or offer information about member employment or employability. There are also two additional discussion areas: an "ask Metafilter" advice section, and Metatalk, which allows the community to discuss happenings on other areas of the site. Metatalk is also used to request specific site improvements or obtain information about the mechanics and decisions behind the site's daily operations. This capability to discuss discussions within the same site is what makes collaborative blogs like Metafilter different from previously studied online communities, and more similar to the self-reflective discussions that occur on some newspapers' public editor columns where the editor critiques or responds to reader critiques of the newspaper's reportage.

Moderation in Community Blogs

Even though the purpose of online discussion groups is discussion, there are some types of commentary that are unwelcome or inappropriate for inclusion in the conversation. Flames and troll posts, designed to derail the conversation, or comments that are out of character for the group at large, are included in this category. Design decisions can help to mitigate the mechanical issues that can make CMC problematic, building the possibility for salient, multi-threaded communication into the layout and functionality of a site. However, the possibility for conflict, miscommunication, and inappropriate communication to occur still exist, just as they do in face-to-face communication. Similarly, just as moderation can assist face-to-face deliberation and in heated discussion, so too can it be of use to online discussion groups.

The advent of member moderation and judgment of comment value, was first seen on the Slashdot⁵ technology collaborative blog, which focuses on "News for Nerds. Stuff that matters." The moderation system enabled all participating members of the community to have the opportunity to moderate and rate individual comments; community members who consistently post comments deemed worthwhile by the membership were rewarded with higher "karma points" and often received community privileges based on these ratings (CmdrTaco 2003; Powazek 2002). For example, as designated "trusted members," their own comment ratings might be given greater importance and weight and their opinions more often solicited by other community members than those of someone with fewer karma points might. The only limitation on Slashdot is that members may not rate a comment in a thread in which they are participating.

Because Slashdot and Metafilter are privately owned and run, the site owners are the final arbiters of what is allowed on their sites; banning people is often a last resort, occurring only after other methods of conflict resolution have been attempted (CmdrTaco 2003; Haughey 2002).

⁵ http://www.slashdot.org

Collaborative Blogs

Single-issue blogs that combine the media-focused aspects of early blogs with the community-publishing aspect of community blogs are termed collaborative blogs. Usually political in nature, these blogs offer their readers a space to post comments concerning a single topic or theme, such as healthcare or getting members of a specific party elected.

Site managers of more sophisticated collaborative political weblogs may require members to register with a unique ID before they can comment. Some sites also allow for the threaded arrangement of comments chronologically by thread topic, in addition to a non-hierarchical and chronological linear display format. The adoption of this new visual rhetoric increases the likelihood that members will respond to each other and increases the interactivity and conversational salience on the site. Some sites allow members to rate each others' comments, which may increase the depth and breadth of participation within the community. Although there is always the possibility that ratings will be used to elevate commentary with which a rater agrees, this capability also allows for readers to ignore comments rated below a certain threshold. These tools could lead to the development of a community "echo chamber" as posited by Sunstein (2001), but they also permit a more focused exploration of the commentary within the site.

Daily Kos Overview

The collaborative weblog I have chosen to study is Daily Kos⁶ (See Figure 1). The site has existed since May 26, 2002, and has grown from 5,000 registered members (Markos Moulitsas, Personal Communication, December 13, 2003) and around 3.1 million site visits per month in late 2004, to the current statistics of almost 80,000 registered members and about 12 million site visits a month_in early 2006 (Sitemeter 2006).

Daily Kos (so named because "Kos" was the owner's nickname when he served in the U.S. Army) is owned by Markos Moulitsas Zúniga, who operates the site full time and is supported by ample advertising revenue.⁷

⁶ http://www.dailykos.com.

⁷ Advertising revenue was approximately \$104,000 for the month of June 2008 http://web.blogads.com/advertise/liberal_blog_advertising_network). Operating expenses for the site are not publicly available.

Site Overview and Images



Figure 1. Front Page of the Daily Kos Website

The above image shows the main elements of the Daily Kos site. Front Page stories are to the left, advertisements are in the middle column, and to the right are the member controls for the site. The Menu, on the top right, contains direct links to the homepage (pictured), current Diaries, dKosepedia (which is an information page about the site), a Search engine, Create account page, Login for members who have an existing account, and an auto generated email request link, for members that have lost their password. Just below the Main menu is the About section of the site, and below
that is the list of Recommended Diaries. Not shown on this image, just below the Recommended Diaries list, is the list of Recent Diaries. Both Recommended Diaries and Recent Diaries refresh every time the page is reloaded in the browser.



Figure 2. Ratings Description

Figure 2, above, shows the key features involved in commenting or rating on the Daily Kos site. The Reply to This link, and the Ratings dropdown menu, are only displayed to members who are logged in to the site. The horizontal gray bars separate comments from each other. The increasing rightward indentations give a visual indication of the comment being responded to. Gray bars that share the same indented left margin indicate that the comments below are responding to the same single comment above them on the page. In Figure 2, the position of the second and third bars indicate that the comments below are part of a single thread, with each comment responding to the one directly above it.

Daily Kos Site History and Format

Site History

Started in May of 2002, Daily Kos was the most highly trafficked noncorporate political blog with more than half a million visits/day in December 2005 (as calculated by the Truth Laid Bear Blogging Ecosystem⁸ and Sitemeter⁹).

In 2006, there were almost 80,000 registered members (up from 5,000 in 2003) who had posting privileges on the site, but there was no way of determining how many of those members were active readers of the site. Member registration is required for those who would like to post diaries or comments, recommend diaries, or rate comments on the site, although read-only access to the site is available to anyone. It is free to register on the site, and there are no formal posting requirements or limitations, excepting a one-week probationary period limiting the member's ability to post a diary. While previous iterations of the site (and many other political blogs) do not employ this registration barrier to commenting, Daily Kos moved to this format in October of 2003. The reasons for this change included the fact that the anonymous comment format incurred several cases of inundation by advertising spammers,

⁸ http://www.truthlaidbear.com/ecosystem.php.

⁹ http://www.sitemeter.com/?a=stats&s=sm8dailykos&r=0.

trolling, mistaken identity, and even identity theft. As well, members could only read comments chronologically, and could not easily reply directly to a comment that occurred earlier in the thread. These software limitations hindered the conversational salience and in some cases the substance of the commentary. Members could cut-andpaste from comments to which they wanted to reply, but the process required an extra step that not every member chose (or was technologically astute enough) to employ.

Markos began taking in advertising revenue in late 2003 to support the site's operational costs. Members who wish view an ad-free version of the site can purchase a site subscription fee, which remains unchanged since 2006: \$4/month, \$40/year, or \$100 for a lifetime subscription. Subscribers receive no additional content or access privileges for their subscription.

Format

The Daily Kos is most properly considered a combination of a community blog and a political Usenet group. A seminal article, called a Diary, is posted on a topic. Community members are invited to post responses, or comments, about the article.

The Kos community is primarily self-regulating, with the posting members taking an active interest in the health and wellbeing of the community. During the week of my study period approximately 5,000 individuals posted diaries and comments, both within and outside of the Pie Fight articles. It is not known how many of the registered members read the site without posting on it, but the overall site

statistics run on the order of over one million visits a week. These site statistics include both registered and non-registered readers.

There is an active reference encyclopedia of the site, called the dKosopedia, a play on the word encyclopedia, which includes information about the site and various political concerns.

Membership

As noted above, anyone at all can view the site or its comments. Membership privileges include the ability to comment on posts, create diaries, and rate other members' posts for quality. The Daily Kos site is similar to earlier political weblogs in that registration is open to anyone with an email address and that there are certainly people who post with the desire to "win" more than the desire for earnest, open political discussion. Since the site enables its members to screen out undesirable content, it is possible that these communications are less troublesome than those occurring in other political discussion groups.

As of November 4, 2005, there were 70,555 individual member names registered on the site, although the actual posting figure was closer to 6,000 in any given week. Adding to the site's legitimacy, the dKosepedia includes a page which listed "Important Guests at the Daily Kos" listing various US Representatives, Senators, State Officeholders and candidates for the 2004 and 2006 elections who have posted Diaries on the site (dKosepedia 2006).There is no indication anywhere on the site of how many people are paid subscribers.

The Front Page – Stories and Front Page Authors

The Daily Kos site has various areas where readers of the site can read originating articles. Originating articles on the front page of the site are known as stories. In 2006, these stories were written by five people within the Daily Kos community who have been given the privilege of front-page posting status. These people are the site owner and four others of the site owner's choosing (in some cases, the community has voted on who should be given front page posting status). As described below, diaries may be promoted to the front page by any of the front page authors. The authors of the diaries retain their diary author status, but their site status is increased by the promotion, since their diaries will likely be seen by the same number of people who view the front page stories.

Open Threads Stories

Interspersed with the Stories on the front page are Open Threads, where generic comments of any type are permitted, and with no set topic of conversation. There are two types of Open Threads: those that are auto-generated (under the *open thread* author) and those that are typically written by Markos or another front page author. Sometimes there are themes of the open threads, but they are primarily designed for community members to comment and/or discuss issues that have not been covered within a recent story, or are not otherwise deserving of front page treatment. In many cases, the open threads are where the community aspect of the Daily Kos shines through. It is here that inside-jokes are shared (or explained), community building occurs, where references to other diaries that didn't make the front page or the recommended list are made, and where community members promote their own diaries.

There is also a "Cheers and Jeers" story that functions in the same way as an open thread, but is not considered as such. The official Cheers and Jeers author, *Bill in Portland ME*,¹⁰ has been accorded unofficial front page author status in recognition of the value such community building efforts bring to the community (Wikipedia 2008).

To the right of the front page stories are the advertisements. These are typically combinations of text and images, and are only hidden if a community member has purchased a subscription to the site.

Diaries

Diaries are originating articles written by community members without frontpage posting status. Diaries determined to be worthy of community-wide exposure are promoted to the front page of the Daily Kos site, either by Markos or one of the other five front page authors. As well, there is a dynamically created list of memberrecommended diaries on the front page. Community members can also recommend a diary via a link on the diary page. The title of the diary, the diary author, and the number of comments it has received are all that is visible on this list, but the site viewer can click on the title to see the entire diary and comments. Registered members

¹⁰ In the fall of 2007, Bill in Portland ME lost his job, and the Daily Kos community collected \$50,000 in pledges to allow him to continue to write Cheers & Jeers as a full-time paid position. Wikipedia. 2008, "Daily Kos", Retrieved June 9, 2008 (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Daily_Kos).

can select the number of "most recommended diaries" that they would like to view in the member preferences area, or they can leave the display to the site-generated default number of recommended diaries.

There is also a dynamically created list of recently posted diaries – registered members can choose how many recently posted diaries they would like to see on the front page. Alternately, there is a link to the main diaries page where all diaries are posted. Since the Daily Kos community has almost 80,000 members, it would be impossible to keep up with all of the diaries that are written – in 2005, approximately 200 diaries were written per day.

Commenting

After an article or diary is written, community members can extend the dialogue by commenting on the diary, and/or on a previous member's comments on the diary. This results in several threads of conversation, with the initiating post typically being in response to the original diary and subsequent posts being in response to the preceding comment or to the diary itself. Each comment that responds directly to the originating diary starts a new comment thread.

Tip Jar

A *tip jar* comment is often posted by the diary author as a means of increasing his/her Mojo (described below), which eventually can help a person attain Trusted User status (described below). Since diary recommendations are not included in Mojo

calculations, this is often the only means by which diarists' contributions are measured or rewarded. This practice is resisted by some diarists, but is predominantly an understood and supported convention of the site.

Rating / Mojo

Ratings on the Daily Kos site are a means of participating in the dialog without having to take the time to write. Comments can be given a rating of 0-4 in order of increasing "value" to the community, although 0 is a rating only Trusted Users may give, and which can cause the comment to be hidden from view. At least two community members must rate a comment for that comment to receive a numerical rating that is visible, without clicking, to readers of the site.

Members can rate any comments except their own, and the ratings are intended to reward members who craft insightful or informative comments, while weeding out the trolls who might invade and destroy the community. Ratings are not supposed to indicate agreement or disagreement with a particular commenter or point of view, but there is no formal prohibition against a member choosing to rate comments solely based on this criterion. Raters who go on "sprees" and negatively rate (a practice known as downrating) multiple comments are usually noticed and called out or sanctioned by the community. Oftentimes, a commenter who receives a bad rating will post a second comment within the same thread to demand that the person who gave the rating give an explanation for the rating. Occasionally, retaliatory downrating occurs, but if so, it is usually noted within the comment thread. Excessive commentary

about ratings is typically seen as counterproductive to the conversation, and seems to be looked down upon by the community.

In the interest of giving back to the community, and perhaps to avoid the result of hiding comments, or because those who do not have the power to give zeroes would still like to have input on the conversation, a convention has arisen on Daily Kos where a member will post a recipe as a comment to a post that they would have rated as Zero. This is an interesting and useful modification of the means by which a non-Trusted User can admonish another, and develop community feeling at the same time. Its use is noteworthy because the posting of a recipe likely requires much more effort than merely rating a post or member with a zero.

In addition to spotlighting valuable comments, comment ratings also provide value to the community by increasing the status of users who write them. A member's comment ratings are combined into a weighted average which results in a Mojo value. Mojo is an idea borrowed from the Slashdot community, which ostensibly helps to keep the comments on the site as "high quality as possible." The Mojo value is the projected rating of a member's subsequent comments. Commenters who successfully endeavor to enhance their Mojo are likely also increasing the amount of useful, interesting, or otherwise valuable commentary on the site. After a member has posted a sufficient number of comments, and has also obtained a Mojo value higher than a certain undisclosed minimum, that member attains Trusted User status.

Trusted User Status

In addition to the typical rating ability, a Trusted User is able to rate comments below the normal minimum rating (e.g. they may rate comments from 0-4, rather than 1-4). This privilege allows a trusted member to join in the policing of Daily Kos, enabling them to "zero rate" comments. There are no specific sanctions to this rating, although comments with an average rating of below 1 are hidden from the view of regular daily Kos readers.

While the means by which a regular member becomes a Trusted User are very generally explained, the actual calculations are not made transparent to the community members. What is known is that a member who makes either comments or diaries that are favorably rated by the community eventually attains enough Mojo to become elevated to this status. Trusted Users have three specific privileges that Regular Members do not: they can anonymously give comments a zero (troll) rating; they can see all hidden, troll-rated comments; and they can see who has given a comment a zero rating.

There is no transparency in the community about how many members are actually Trusted Users, nor is a member formally informed that they have attained this status. When trusted member status is discussed in comments, most trusted members note that they realized they'd been elevated because their ratings system had changed from 1–4 to 0–4. Markos himself, when asked how the calculations are performed, and by what means a member is accorded this status, has simply stated "Don't worry about

it – it's not a big deal." However, since the Trusted Users are able to hide certain posts from the typical member's view without either detection or accountability, the Trusted User likely has a greater influence on the community than is immediately apparent.

Tags

As of October 2005, author defined tags/keywords could be attached to each diary that is posted. Tags are designed to improve usability of the site by enabling members to search for specific keywords to locate diaries that are of most interest to them. Although each community member may create their own tag, and many do, there has been a great deal of discussion about the rules for tagging posts. For now, Trusted Users are empowered to remove inappropriate tags from diary posts if they so choose, and authors are asked to use preexisting, somewhat generic tags rather than create idiosyncratic or "clever" tags that aren't as useful in terms of narrowing a search for a specific diary subject.

Researcher Background

I have been a reader and participant in online fora for about 15 years and, as such, have viewed the evolution of online communities with both optimism and despair. I have been impressed with the ability of CMC to facilitate asynchronous connections across distance, and I have been dismayed if not offended by my early experiences in AOL chat rooms populated by people determined to see how verbally aggressive or scatological they could be. Different online venues serve different purposes, and my own evolving use has given me a more sanguine view of the

beneficial prospects of some forms of online community. I agree with Robert Putnam that "It is hard to imagine solving our contemporary civic dilemmas without computer-mediated communication" (Putnam 2000:180).

I found Daily Kos through another now almost equally well-known blog – Eschaton, written by then anonymous blogger Atrios (since revealed to be Duncan Black, a former economics professor who is now a full-time blogger). Although Daily Kos was not initially that different from other comments-enabled political blogs I read, its evolution into a collaborative blog led me to believe that the site might eventually be a place where reasoned deliberation might take place.

Although I have been reading Daily Kos almost since its inception, I did not post or rate very frequently in the community. I have engaged in previous research on this community (Soma 2007) concerning the same conflict event that the current research diaries discuss. My experience with the community's rules and norms was of benefit in both projects, although I ceased participating as a member when communication in the community became the focus of my research.

CHAPTER 3 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The question of whether or not the Internet can support deliberation, much less deliberative democracy, has long engaged theorists and governments alike. Democracies in the UK and Europe have studied the feasibility of electronic voting or town halls (discussed in Price and Cappella 2002) and currently offer government-run discussion sections at both the local and national level (Wright and Street 2007), while in the United States, the focus has concentrated on connecting disparate constituencies together, and on evaluating the medium as a forum for deliberation (Davis 1999; Fishkin 2000; Gastil 2000b; Price and Cappella 2002; Price and David 2005; Sunstein 2001; Witschge 2002). The current study will add to the body of research by measuring whether an online political community uses the tools of moderation to create an environment where deliberation can occur.

This chapter will discuss early findings in computer-mediated communication research, and the present benefits and shortfalls of the medium with regard to deliberation and online community. The conditions in which face-to-face deliberation can occur will be discussed first, and compared to conditions which are encountered online. An examination of online deliberation and moderation research is followed by a discussion of how the tools used within the study community discussed in the previous chapter might facilitation more deliberative communication. The chapter ends with a discussion of the research question arising from the current research and the moderation tools used within the study community.

Deliberation

For the purposes of this research, deliberation is considered to be a means for citizens to become better informed and to lobby for their choice of policy. Citizen participation in deliberation has been found to increase political reflection, knowledge, efficacy, and participation (Barber 1984; Gastil 2000a; Gutmann and Thompson 1996; Price 2006). There are minimal communication preconditions that must be met before deliberation can be considered to have occurred. While some of these factors are difficult to establish in an online context without a survey of participants, there are some factors of deliberation which might reasonably be assessed.

Rationality, reflexivity, equality, inclusivity, and civility are the overriding principles for deliberative discussion (Burkhalter, Gastil, and Kelshaw 2002; Fishkin 1999; Gutmann and Thompson 1996; Min 2007; Wilhelm 1999). Most traditional definitions of deliberation require face-to-face communication within a small group that is discussing a specific issue or range of issues that effects a broader group of constituents, within a pre-existing and limited timeframe (Burkhalter, Gastil, and Kelshaw 2002). The process of deliberation likewise has specific expectations, constraints, and factors that must be present: a range of information, both factual and personal, must be presented; a diverse array of solutions and views should be considered; the criteria for evaluation of legitimacy must be transparent and explicitly articulated by participants; all solutions presented must be given equal consideration by participants (Burkhalter, Gastil, and Kelshaw 2002). There are rights and

responsibilities inherent in deliberative participation as well—all participants must be equally empowered to speak and must be spoken to in a way and with language that is comprehensible to them (Burkhalter, Gastil, and Kelshaw 2002; Fishkin 1991). The deliberative group must have shared norms and values, while maintaining respect for the inevitable disagreements that occur among diverse groups of people (Gutmann and Thompson 2004). Finally, the practice of "normative completeness," involving a backand-forth exchange where an initial argument is answered by people with an opposing view, their counterargument is answered, and is then followed by another response, and so on, is the preferred mode of dialogue, time permitting (Ackerman and Fishkin 2004:182). Deliberation "involves listening as well as speaking, feeling as well as thinking, and acting as well as reflecting" (Barber 1984:178).

Deliberation Online

The time and resource commitments that deliberation in face-to-face contexts typically require can make it difficult for many citizens who would like to become more politically engaged. The Internet could offer a venue for these citizens who would like to participate in deliberation but find themselves constrained by other factors in their daily life. However, computer-mediated communication has its own limitations which may negatively impact deliberation.

The most frequently cited concerns about the efficacy of computer-mediated communication have to do with adverse effects resulting from depersonalization and the absence of non-verbal cues that are so useful to face-to-face communication (see discussion in Kollock & Smith (1996), Rafaeli and Sudweeks (1997), and Riva (2002)). These early detractors stated that CMC is an ineffective medium because of its inability to include the nonverbal communication signals that add so much to face-to-face conversation. Such depersonalization can result in increased misunderstanding between discussants, not to mention disinhibition when one or more parties get frustrated with the direction the conversation takes (Sproull and Kiesler 1986). Both of these can lead to conflict escalation because the initial message was misunderstood.

The lack of conversational cues may limit the meanings, connection, and understanding that can occur in CMC (Dorado, Medina, Munduate, Cisneros, and Euwema 2002; Hebert and Vorauer 2003). For instance, without tone of voice accompanying a message, communications intended to be playful may be perceived as serious, starting an online conflict because the initial message was misunderstood. To preempt such misunderstandings, emoticons (such as :-) or ;-() were developed to provide shorthand for communicating emotional tone or context (Shea 1994). While they can be amusing, emoticons do not seem to appreciably alter the understanding or impact of the verbal message, especially when either the message or emoticon is negative (Future 2005; Walther and D'Addario 2001). Some message boards consider the use of emoticons to be an indicator of communicative incompetence, and urge their members to be more explicit and judicious when communicating. Confusion about or distrust of emoticons was likely more common for earlier users of CMC, but at the time of this research, their meaning has permeated popular culture (Sanderson

1997), and misunderstandings of their meaning are likely to be less frequently encountered than they once were.

A separate though related concern is that the cloaking function of anonymity gives people license to try on other personas (Turkel 1995). This type of exploration and experimentation is usually harmless, although anonymity can also be used by people whose intentions are to disrupt communication (Herring, Job-Sluder, Scheckler, and Barab 2002). Even among people of good will, depersonalization in conjunction with anonymity can lead to needlessly and unavoidably combative communication, because one is interacting with a nameless, faceless actor, usually in an unmoderated space (Bellini and Vargas 2003; Davis 1999; Reid 1999; Riva 2002; Suler 2004). Conflict can escalate when miscommunication occurs in these spaces, with the result that people feel less responsibility for communicating in a way that would be inappropriate in a face-to-face conversation (Witschge 2002).

While depersonalization and anonymity in CMC can result in problematic interactions, they have demonstrated advantages to communication as well. The fact that CMC offers no physical conversational cues has been found to facilitate improved understanding between online collaborators (Hebert and Vorauer 2003). Research on online feedback in communal work found that the lack of extraneous communication cues allowed the reader to focus on the content of message rather than the sender of it, resulting in more effective and content-rich communication (Herbert and Vorauer 2003). This indicates that CMC may actually extend the communication sphere of

those who might otherwise be limited by the gating functions that govern face-to-face interactions, or of those who might not conform to norms of appearance, ability, or gender (Bargh, McKenna, and Fitzsimons 2002), allowing for the presence of diverse groups to participate in deliberation. This accords with Stromer-Galley's (2003) finding that the absence of social cues might free people from the psychological barriers (such as conflict avoidance, as described in Ulbig and Funk (1999)) that might prevent them from discussing politics in a face-to-face format. The Internet allows social bonding to occur asynchronously, enables a larger number of people to participate, and helps them to maintain a communal memory due to the maintenance of conversation artifacts and archives (Etzioni 1997). These factors assist in the development of online community, and perhaps can facilitate deliberation as well

Online Group Dynamics

People join online groups for many reasons: a lack of "real-world" counterparts, a preference toward not being seen or being uncomfortable in face-toface groups, time constraints, the desire to share a common predicament, or social anxiety and loneliness (McKenna and Green 2002:117-118). In many cases, participation in online groups resembles a modern gift culture, with fellow members freely offering each other technical support, travel recommendations, medical advice, and additional information useful to the community at large (Kollock 1999; Preece 2001; Rheingold 2000). Spatial distance is no longer a determining factor of whether or not a relationship between community members can develop, or be maintained over time (Rheingold 2000).

Where it occurs, the increase in intimacy and self-disclosure that results from anonymous participation in online discussion groups can be of great benefit to members of stigmatized or marginalized social groups who may have few resources of offline support (Turkel 1995). This increased intimacy can also have a beneficial effect on deliberation, wherein the sharing of personal stories among a diverse group can add additional information and context, providing a more complex understanding of the issue under discussion (Burkhalter, Gastil, and Kelshaw 2002)

However, there is some concern that the absence of visual cues, instead of being a positive factor, may diminish a person's critical thinking, rather than increase it. When information about interpersonal differences is obscured, people of different offline social standings connect because of their similarities, and increased attachment to and identification with the online group is the result (McKenna and Green 2002:122). The Social Identity/Deindividuation (SIDE) Model (first put forth by Spears and Lea (1994), as discussed in Wilhelm (1999)) posits that participants in an online group are more likely to adhere to the expressed or expected identity and norms of the community, creating stronger in- and out-groups than would be expected to occur in face-to-face groups (Wood and Smith 2005).

Research on the location of one's Real Self indicated that for those online users who might not connect with others offline due to the gating effects of unattractiveness, evidence of social anxiety, or physical impediments, the relationships they form online are just as important, if not more so, as their offline relationships (Bargh, McKenna, and Fitzsimons 2002). The social effects resulting from online interaction are no less real than those which occur offline in face-to-face interactions; people who are ignored or snubbed online feel the same way as users who are snubbed in face-to-face interactions (McKenna, Green, and Gleason 2002). Thus, while some people do use depersonalization on CMC in order to act out in ways they can't do so in their daily lives, most people behave in the same way they would behave in face-to-face interactions, so as not to incur threats to their offline sense of self.

The question becomes whether the polarization of attitudes described by the SIDE model will take place in all online political discussion groups (Sunstein 2001). It is possible that in online communities where deliberation is a stated or implicit goal, with the attending group norms, the SIDE model could predict a positive outcome for deliberation, evidenced by a tolerance or even support of reasoned disagreement.

Deliberation Components

There is no doubt that face-to-face and computer-mediated communication are different, but it does not necessarily follow that these differences make deliberation impossible. When considering deliberation in an online space, it is useful to look at the previously mentioned deliberative components and determine how they might be differently experienced when occurring online. It is possible that some of these differences might offer benefit to a deliberative space. In this section, specific deliberative factors relating to the current research will be examined as they are affected by online space.

Inclusion, equality, equal speaking opportunities. In brief, inclusion and equal speaking opportunities mean that "Every person affected by the issues under consideration is equally entitled to participate in deliberation" (Chadwick (2006:89) adapted from Dahlberg (2001a; 2001b)). The invisibility of identifying characteristics that might affect message reception (such as race, sex, physical ability, or appearance) can improve the chances for inclusion and equality, as described in the previous section. In an asynchronous format there are usually fewer limitations regarding speaking opportunities. The most prevalent problems that occur concern managing the flow of communication from so many individuals, and supporting the ability to coherently display the conversations that result (Herring 2008). Obviously there remain access issues due to the continuing digital divide, but given the time constraints on participants in face-to-face deliberations, an asynchronous online format gives more people the opportunity to take part in the discussion (Gastil 2000b).

Some diversity of participants and viewpoints. When considering whether online deliberation is possible, a key question is whether or not citizens would willingly seek out information that contradicts their own point of view and seek diversity, or if they would rather communicate exclusively with people with whom they agree, seeking homophily (Witschge 2002). Cass Sunstein's (2001) concerns about the "Daily Me" homogenization of online readers' access and exposure to public media were

understandable, focusing on the broadcast nature of early political web content and its likely effects on media consumption. Similarly, early researchers of interaction within Usenet groups and online communities expressed concerns about an "echo chamber" effect, that users would rarely encounter information with which they disagree (Wellman 1997). While it is possible that the Usenet groups under study, with names that might be considered to suggest specific framing such as alt.politics.bush or talk.libertarian, might have served to polarize discussants in divergent camps (Stromer-Galley 2003), it is unsurprising to find that political theorists felt that the prospects for civil deliberation in such an environment were dim.

Jennifer Stromer-Galley (2003) researched the homophily versus diversity perspective, interviewing newsgroup, message board, and chat room users to ascertain how and why they sought out specific online political discussion. While some interviewees indicated that, where their offline lives did not involve discussions with people who held similar views, they went online to find people with whom they agreed, the majority of interviewees went online to seek a diversity of perspectives. Even when users went online to find people with whom they agreed, they were seeking different perspectives from those they encountered in face-to-face conversation. Stromer-Galley's (2003) key finding was that the online experiences of her interviewees were ones of diversity; her interviewees went online to be exposed to different perspectives than they typically encountered in other areas of their lives. *Civil disagreement.* The communication of disagreement online has been the focus of many researchers. Internet discourse about politics has been described as aggressive, fragmented and confrontational (Margolis and Resnick 2000), and less concerned with problem-solving and deliberation than with a desire to dominate one's opponent (Davis 1999). How can this behavior be reconciled with the requirement that deliberative conversations must promote heterogeneous views and incorporate cooperative argumentation (Burkhalter, Gastil, and Kelshaw 2002)? One problem could be that agreeability and civility have been conflated with politeness. While impolite discourse can be unpleasant, it does not necessarily follow that it is actually uncivil.

In her evaluation of civility and politeness in online discussion groups, Papacharissi (2004) determined that the most worrisome communication was that which was polite, yet uncivil. The etiquette-related concerns of politeness (such as a lack of profanity) were of less import than the presence of civility, demonstrated through respect of individual's rights, and abjuring antagonistic stereotypes or threats to democracy such as advocating to overthrow the government (Papacharissi 2004:279). One can speak very politely while advocating for clearly undemocratic goals.

Concerning impoliteness, it is true that flames and profanity often go hand in hand (Hill and Hughes 1997), but it is not always the case that profanity indicates that non-deliberative communication is taking place. Civility is a behavior that conveys

"an attitude of respect and understanding toward one's co-discussants" (Hurrell 2005:67), and restraint is important in the maintenance of civility (Hurrell 2005). At the same time, "robust, rude, self-absorbed" and therefore, honest, conversation should also take place (Papacharissi 2004:260). Moral disagreement is inevitable within a non-homogeneous population, so there must be means and avenues by which members may disagree with each other (Gutmann and Thompson 1996). The respectful accommodation of disagreement in the face of personal moral objections is a cornerstone of deliberation, no matter where the conversation takes place (Gutmann and Thompson 1996).

In face-to-face communication, exposure to disagreement has been found to contribute to more deliberative opinion, helping people to better articulate their own point of view, as well as understand the rationale underlying an opposing point of view (Price, Cappella, and Nir 2002). This broadening of understanding and exposure to a wider range of viewpoints has been found to help citizens to craft better solutions to the problems they face (Gastil 2000a).

The beneficial effects of such exposure have been found to occur online as well. Although Internet users have been found to seek out information that supports their previously held views, they do not avoid exposure to other opinions (Garrett 2006). A comparative study of the resulting change or hardening of opinion following participation in either online or face-to-face deliberation found that both cohorts experienced an increase in their knowledge, efficacy and willingness to participate in

politics, although the online group experienced a slightly lesser effect (Min 2007). Also of interest, the participants in the online cohort were found to "express more candid and direct opinions and engage in more heated debates" (Min 2007:12). Due to the differences in online versus face-to-face communication, subjects may have felt able to exchange more frank opinions due to the absence of visual cues (Min 2007).

Trust, shared goals, perceived common ground. As in a face-to-face deliberative group, the participants need not necessarily share specific goals at the outset, as long as they have some minimum common ground (Barber 1984; Burkhalter, Gastil, and Kelshaw 2002; Gutmann and Thompson 2004). In spite of an expectation to the contrary, a comparison of social capital in e-communities and communities of place showed that both sets of groups were able to facilitate social trust and collective action among their users (Scott and Johnson 2005). This finding led to their hope that carefully targeted and thoughtfully designed online communities could offer a new way for citizens to participate in public dialogue, and that these new types of online communities would be able to support the same levels of civility and social trust online as have been observed in face-to-face groups (Scott and Johnson 2005:14).

Personal revelations which lead to perspective taking. "Strong democracy promotes reciprocal empathy and mutual respect." (Barber 1984:223). This empathy is more likely to occur when interpersonal narratives are exchanged within the deliberative discussion. In deliberative spaces, storytelling has been found to broaden the field of discussion, as well as introducing perspectives that might not otherwise be

encountered in participants' daily life (Enslin, Pendlebury, and Tjiattas 2001). While not obviously part of the procedure that makes deliberation work, the introduction of personal narratives can introduce a broader or more comprehensive viewpoint to the proceedings (Black, 2008). As with the current healthcare debate, the introduction of personal narratives reifies the issues under discussion; no longer can the personallyrelated issues be considered abstract if there is someone present whose life has been directly affected by the topic under discussion. In the online space, the discussion of personal experience can sometimes flesh out the writer's persona, in addition to giving them more credence, respectability, or authority about the topic under discussion. Of course, as with any gathering, people will have different experiences to share and different levels of comfort about sharing them. The sharing a personal narratives is not meant to substitute as therapy, but a modicum of consciousness raising can sometimes result in a more sympathetic or empathetic view of the issue under discussion (Dolan, Cookson, and Ferguson 1999).

Previous Research on Online Deliberation

Previous research on political communication online has at focused on content analysis, network analysis, site design, or moderation, individually or in tandem with other factors. Early studies on political discussion on Usenet tended to focus on interactivity measures such as thread depth, either alone or in conjunction with content analysis of the comments within threads. This focus makes sense considering the conversational salience difficulties described earlier. The majority of online

deliberation research has been tested within town hall-like situations, and carefully chosen groups, but has not undertaken a field examination of deliberation as experienced by a self-selected group of discussants.

Usenet

Hill and Hughes (1997:20) evaluated a broad spectrum of political newsgroups on Usenet, and found that while comments threads were much longer when disagreement was present, "ideologically dissonant posts were more likely to be flamed or outright attacked". Although evaluating the ebb and flow of the topic development and evolution in a single thread can give information about the diversity of viewpoints, the mere existence of lengthy conversation threads does not necessarily indicate that deliberation is occurring. Conservative groups were found to be display more message and community cohesion than liberal groups, but this may have been a function of the time period that was studied (1995).

The "wild west" nature of Usenet political groups has been attributed to the lack of discussion moderators or facilitators to "stimulate and regulate discussion, encourage representation and maintain direction" (Davis 1999:166). The predominant amount of interaction within the networks that formed in Usenet political discussion groups was between people who disagreed (Kelly, Fisher, and Smith 2005; Kelly, Fisher, and Smith 2006). However, network analysis of interactions within these groups also showed that people who did not respect community norms of engagement did not receive responses (Kelly, Fisher, and Smith 2005; Kelly, Fisher, and Smith

2006), indicating the possibility that some online communities organically impose minimal conditions of deliberation.

Minnesota E-Democracy Project

The Minnesota E-Democracy project is ongoing, and its impact on the civic engagement of its participants has been positive (Chadwick 2006). Several factors may be responsible for its success: the list was originally conducted through email (now it is hosted by Yahoo! Groups), all messages pass through a single moderator's mailbox, only Minnesotans were allowed to join, and members are required to use their real, complete names when posting comments to the site (Dahlberg 2001a). Speaker visibility likely led to authenticity, and in some cases participants were seen to modify their positions after discussion with others (Dahlberg 2001a). Members also were able to meet face-to-face in town hall meetings – again, this added a level of personal commitment and authenticity to their participation on the site (Dahlberg 2001a).

The Electronic Dialogue Project in Campaign 2000

Another area of research about deliberation online concerned whether or not groups of citizens could be brought together specifically for the purpose of deliberation about candidates and policies being discussed during a federal election (Price and Capella 2002). The findings for synchronous, real-time, structured and moderated group discussions where diversity of participants was controlled, were that changes of opinion among participants did occur, participants' "argument repertoires"

(the range of arguments held in support of and against their favored position) were broadened, and social trust, political engagement, and community engagement were all increased (Price and Cappella 2002). One concern of this study was that, in spite of attempts to control diversity of co-discussants, the people who showed up for the discussions were more likely to be white, and were significantly older and bettereducated than those who did not (for example, the 60-and-older category was three times larger (Price and Cappella 2002: 313)). As with face-to-face participation, time constraints were a factor that adversely affected participation.

Various aspects of computer-mediated and face-to-face communication have been brought to bear in the creation and evaluation of political deliberation online. These have enjoyed some level of success, but have also involved face-to-face meetings (Minnesota e-democracy), included the provision of administrative support and material assistance (the electronic dialogue project), or have measured presences of topic change and disagreement, but not necessarily deliberation (Usenet studies).

As might be expected, these studies provide information in a limited range, but do not address the advent of new and better website design and how it might impact deliberation. As well, synchronous groups replicate the same time barriers to entry as face-to-face groups; groups requiring face-to-face participation might also replicate the race, class, and gender stratifications that are rendered invisible by online participation; and the highly managed evaluations of deliberation across a federal election cycle might not be fiscally tenable in the long run.

Importance of website design to deliberation

As noted previously, early research on interactivity and the feasibility of online deliberation was pessimistic for many reasons. In addition to the technological impacts of CMC that affected interpersonal communication, the earliest sites under study did not support threaded discussion, a minimum requirement of a deliberative space.

Because the visual rhetoric of such sites did not facilitate deliberation, measures of message salience—the degree to which subsequent messages relate to previous ones—were necessary to determine whether a website supported "interactive" conversations and/or deliberation, either through intentional design decisions, or in spite of the site's technological and communication shortcomings (Rafaelli and Sudweeks 1997). Examinations of message salience were undertaken to evaluate the deliberative possibilities of Usenet groups or blog comments areas, often enumerating the strategies through which members maintained conversation threads within sites that did not have a threaded display of responses to an originating comment (Rafaelli and Sudweeks 1997). Name-based callouts and the inclusion of pasted snippets of conversation to be responded to are the most frequently encountered strategies to enforce coherence within such sites. Yet, even within venues where interuser communication is not the main aim of the site (such as within multi-participant online games, interactive news sites, and social network sites) users still manage to find a way to engage in "coherent conversation" by the focused, self-enforced

adherence to message salience (Herring 2008), indicating that, where the format is specifically designed to promote in-depth conversation, it is likely to occur.

Moderation to Improve Discussion

Top-Down Moderation

Rules of conduct, while designed to improve community functionality and interaction between members, may limit who feels comfortable participating in the community, but might not actually improve the prospects for deliberation. Depending on the type of leader the community has, these rules may severely limit the diversity of views allowed within the community, or they can allow for the presence of reasoned disagreement. Deliberation research indicates that allowing more diverse perspectives into the discussion increases the creativity of the discussion group as a whole and frequently results in the creation of more and better solutions to problems, in addition to increasing understanding of other points of view and developing a clearer articulation of the rationale behind one's own (Price, Cappella, and Nir 2002).

Behind the scenes moderation via the pre-screening of messages has been used with success in newsgroups and listservs for many years, but there are tradeoffs in this approach. Pre-moderation can disrupt conversational flow, and is dependant upon on the time constraints and sensibilities of the moderator, while post-moderation allows offensive messages to remain visible to the community until they are removed (Wright and Street 2007). Either type of top-down moderation can benefit discussion groups with a limited audience and traffic level, but can be problematic for larger or more

heavily trafficked groups. When top-down post-moderation rules are comprehensible and transparent, participants were found to appreciate moderators' enforcement of a clear, rule-bound of discussion, only finding fault when a comment or post deemed "offensive" to a segment of the community appeared within the discussion because it was not considered to be so by the moderator (Hurrell 2005:72).

Community Moderation

Another means of moderation is community or peer moderation, via the use of individually administered comment ratings. Community comment rating systems can give every community member (or a designated subset) the ability to rate comments according to their value to the discussion, dispersing the responsibility for enforcing community norms to the community itself.

In addition to the removal of disruptive or destructive commentary, community moderation can also help readers of a site identify for themselves the type of communication they deem valuable or harmful to the goals of discourse (Lampe and Resnick 2004). Through this evaluative process, community members are able to gain proficiency in evaluating arguments and possibly learn to become better deliberators themselves.

One community where such tools have been used with success is Slashdot. The site supports threaded discussions, and also allows a constantly rotating selection of trusted users to offer feedback on each other's commentary via a comment rating system (Powazek 2002). Slashdot's model is unique, in that a limited number of

stories are posted each day, only a small segment of the user population has moderation privileges at once, and those privileges expire in five days' time. These measures were undertaken to make Slashdot as readable as possible for as many people as possible, to not overwhelm community moderators with responsibility or time requirements, to have moderation be undertaken as a community service, and lastly, to ensure that no one moderator or group of moderators can become too powerful over time (CmdrTaco 2003; Lampe 2006).

The focus of most research on Slashdot has been on the quantitative aspects of moderation and user participation, such as measuring the effectiveness of the rating system in helping readers process a high volume of messages. Specific efforts include evaluating the chronology and perceived "fairness" of comment ratings (Lampe and Resnick 2004), determining whether the ratings system makes the venue more comfortable or navigable for new users (Lampe and Johnson 2005), and exploring how such a "distributed conversation" might be visually represented (Halavais 2001).

An immediacy function has been discovered, such that earlier comments typically garner more ratings than later comments in the conversation. As might be expected, much of the conversation can pass before the best and worst comments get identified and moderated. Comments that were posted later in the conversation, not at the top level, or that had lower "start" scores, were less likely to receive attention from moderators (Lampe and Resnick 2004). Political communication on Slashdot differed from other types of communication on the site, and the way moderation was employed

in political discussions also differed (Lampe 2005). Political stories in Slashdot had more comments than other Slashdot stories, and comment moderation was employed similarly to recommending systems such as those used in eBay or epinions; the ratings were assigned as much for the purpose of evaluating or commenting on trustworthiness as for rewarding a well-crafted comment (Lampe 2005).

Specifically, ratings in Slashdot's political discussions seemed more frequently to be used in a divisive way, applied so as to seemingly punish difference of opinion, through use of the +1 and -1 rating to change the base rating¹¹ of a comment (Lampe 2005). While this functionality is available in all sections of the site, its application occurred more frequently in politics than anywhere else (Lampe 2005). As such, the community's use of comment ratings in the Slashdot politics section cannot be said to be used to support the conditions of deliberation.

Summary and Research Question

Deliberation is necessary to have a democratically engaged and informed citizenry, but in practice face-to-face deliberation has constraints that can be difficult to overcome: physical, financial, or chronological resource limitations on the part of the citizenry or the state, and evident replication of class, race, or gender markers that might adversely impact the ability for all present to be heard. Computer-mediated deliberation, with its lowered burden of participation, ease of use and diminishment of

¹¹ In Slashdot, the base rating of a comment functions similarly to Mojo in the Daily Kos, and impacts both the reputation and the visibility that the author's subsequent contributions receive.

problematic social cues might offer an additional and useful venue for citizen deliberation to occur (Gastil 2000b). There remain concerns about the feasibility of computer-mediated communication to be used for deliberation, resulting from previous research on the adverse effects of depersonalization, anonymity, and lack of accountability on the part of discussants. As with face-to-face deliberation, with appropriate guidelines, participants in the conversation are best situated to determine for themselves communication that is deliberative. Community moderation tools give citizens who would like to deliberate the means to support and enforce the conditions of deliberation. The main research question suggested by the previously discussed research is:

RQ: Does a community-administered comment moderation system help that community to support conditions of deliberation?

My main hypothesis is that comment moderation can be used to support conditions of deliberative communication. One of the first things to measure is whether or not agreement and disagreement are equally welcome in a discussion. Will ratings be used to enforce an echo chamber environment, or will community members actually support comments that are part of a conversation that includes a back and forth exchange of views?

H1: The community will use the rating system to support a diverse discussion of views within comments threads.

If the community positively rates more comments within threads that contain more disagreement, we can state that they are more likely to read and participate in threads that contain more give and take, and that they are more likely to appreciate a well reasoned argument, both of which are markers of deliberation.

However, as in the Usenet studies above, the mere presence of a diversity of views is not enough to infer that deliberation has occurred. If the community were to tolerate poor behavior resulting in the quelling of a segment of the population in its support of a diverse discussion of views, it could not be said to support deliberative communication. Thus, the next two hypotheses concern a more focused analysis of the community's rating behavior. First of all, are community members using the ratings system in such a way that one could infer that deliberation is a community-supported value that needs to be protected through judicious use of the ratings system, specifically through their use of it to punish disruptive, harmful, or not useful commentary?

H2: The community will use the rating system to punish or diminish specific types of comments that hinder deliberation.

Secondly, are community members using the rating system to indicate support of comments that discuss the community itself, specifically the inference that there is in fact a community value system that supports deliberation and deliberative expression? I chose to examine the application of positive ratings to comments which were coded to indicate a community deliberative self-concept:
H3: The community will use the rating system to applaud or support specific types of comments that support conditions of deliberation.

The current research will look at deliberation using content analysis of comments in conjunction with an analysis of the community ascribed ratings given to these comments. The resulting information will give a more focused idea of how one online political community uses a comment moderation rating system, to determine whether the moderation that occurred actually indicated support of the conditions of deliberation as described above.

Conclusion

In spite of the shortcomings of CMC, previous research has shown that design decisions that enforce communication salience can increase the likelihood that deliberation may occur online. A following question is whether community moderation can further support the conditions of deliberation. This work focused on an online discussion group that supports threaded display of messaging, in keeping with the evolution of previous deliberation research from focusing on message salience and interactivity (because subsequent messages are now understood to relate to each other) to examining of the content of user comments in context. The study community's use of a comment moderation scheme allows for an in-depth analysis of whether members are using moderation in order to support and enforce the deliberative factors described earlier in the chapter. The specific factors measured were: supporting the presence of differing viewpoints or interpersonal experiences, rewarding communication which is civil and supports the community identity as a place where deliberation can occur, and sanctioning communication which is uncivil or otherwise unsupportive of deliberation among people of differing viewpoints.

This research undertakes an examination of a collaborative political weblog community's use of a comment rating system whose purpose is to increase the ratio of signal to noise in community communications. A content analysis of comments in conjunction with a statistical analysis of comment ratings gives an opportunity to see what types of discussion the members of a find valuable. There has not yet been a field examination of what a community of discussants who created and/or read comments deemed valuable about these communications, or what those values say about that community's commitment to deliberation. This research seeks to fill the gap, determining what the study community's use of comment moderation can indicate about the community, whether the community appears to use it to reflect their values, and whether those values include the protection and promotion of deliberation.

CHAPTER 4 METHODOLOGY

Case Selection

Given the preconditions to deliberation that have been discussed (inclusion, equal speaking opportunities, diversity of participants and views, civil disagreement, perceived common ground), the Daily Kos collaborative weblog was chosen as the site for this research. The maintenance and support of conversational salience is an obvious precursor to deliberation, thus a site with threaded discussion was chosen. More importantly to this research, there continues to be a numerous and prolific community that writes comments and diaries on the site.

One thing that separates the current research on Daily Kos from other research and experiments on deliberation is the fact that many members have been posting to the community for years and are therefore highly invested in the perpetuation of good relationships between members, as well as good communication on the site. The site's ratings system was implemented to increase the ratio of signal to noise within comments threads, to reward the authors of substantive, thoughtful comments, and reprimand, or at least educate, the authors of those comments that do little to add to a reasoned conversation. Responsible and interesting community members are thus empowered to help create the type of discussion they want to see via increased rating privileges, most notably (as discussed in Chapter 2) the ability to hide the most objectionable comments from public view.

Daily Kos was the only community discussion blog I knew of that combined this type of comment rating system with explicit support of "deeper conversations" about political issues. That Daily Kos was also well known and discussed in popular culture added to my desire to study it, as its exposure may have increased the number and diversity of people who participate on the site. Notwithstanding the negative impact of the digital divide to equality of access, any person with time to engage can participate in the conversation. The topicality of Daily Kos is deliberative, although I chose to evaluate a conflict about the site itself rather than a particular political issue. This non-political but relevant issue was chosen because it may be possible to dispassionately discuss political issues that do not directly affect the speaker. I chose to study how the community would deliberate when there was a clear vested interest (the future of their community) at stake, versus a policy issue by which only some members might feel personally engaged or affected.

Additionally, I felt that the community members were more likely to be emotionally invested in a discussion about the site mores and parameters, and that the participants in the discussion would have strongly held views. If the moderation system were going to be abused, or ill-used, choosing such a discussion would provide a stress test of the system and its users. A less contentious topic may not have inspired so many passionate or well-reasoned comments, such an invested readership, and as much comment rating activity.

The Pie Fight, a community-wide conflict event that took place during June 2005, was chosen for study. The bounded conflict was chosen so as to involve the greatest number and broadest diversity of community members in the analysis. While some members might have chosen to participate in content-specific diary threads, I was reasonably certain that a majority of the community who cared about the community would choose to participate in the diaries I chose for this research. This improved the likelihood of having enough information to determine whether or not community talk would receive favorable ratings, and whether differences of opinion were welcome in the discussion. There is a "cheers and jeers" section that might have been a good indicator of civility measures, but it generally offers little in the way of difference of opinion. Similarly, purely political threads would have offered difference of opinion, but less opportunity to look at comments discussing differing views regarding the nature and purpose of the community.

Only the Pie Fight discussions were bounded in content and time, known to a large segment of the community, and were likely to contain difference of opinion to be deliberated as well as meta-discussions about the community itself, providing the opportunity to measure moderation behavior of both contexts within a single space. By focusing on the diaries that concern the Pie Fight, comprising as it did issues of sex, community ownership, and feminism, not to mention longevity in communal memory, this research examined community interaction about topics that contain a strong emotional component and are thus more likely to include conflict in their interactions.

While this was not the first controversy that the Daily Kos community had experienced, it generated commentary on numerous other well-traveled blogs and even garnered mention in mainstream media (Dkosepedia.com). In addition to highlighting the controversy, the external discussion also demonstrated how wide a readership the Daily Kos site enjoys, and that many people know about and reference the community. It also demonstrated that what happens on the Daily Kos site does reverberate past the community, and indeed, of that community's blogroll.¹² It is still being referenced within the community itself almost three years after the fact, mostly in the form of inside jokes seeming to indicate concern about expressing an unpopular view, e.g. "I don't want to start another Pie Fight, but…" or as cautionary tales designed to remind the community of former unpleasantness (Trix 2008). During the time of the Pie Fight, between 5,000-6,000 community members posted at least one comment per week, and around 200 individual diaries were posted per day (jotter 2005a; jotter 2005b).

Description of Pie Fight Incident

On Friday June 3, 2005, an advertisement for Turner Broadcasting Network's reality show *The Real Gilligan's Island*, first appeared on the Daily Kos website. This advertisement contained a picture of two women depicting Ginger and Mary Ann, two characters from the original television show *Gilligan's Island*, in the middle of a food fight featuring coconut cream pie. The image showed a pig-tailed Mary Ann, licking

 $^{^{12}}$ A blogroll is a list of links to other weblogs which might be affiliated with the blog either through personal connections or topic content.

her finger while gazing seductively at cream-pie-covered Ginger. Clicking the ad took the member to a web page containing a video commercial of the show. The commercial featured two women, Mary Ann dressed in short shorts and a low-cut, midriff-baring tie-top, Ginger wearing a low-cut gown with a thigh-high slit, each getting progressively more disheveled and aggressive as they threw pies at each other, eventually culminating in their wrestling each other to the ground.

Community response to the ad was rapid. At least one community member posted a derogatory diary article, on Saturday, June 4, about the advertisement being sexist and thus inappropriate for the Daily Kos site. The following day, Sunday, June 5, Moulitsas himself posted a diary entry that took issue with the initial anti-"Pie Fight" diary and with similar additional comments he had received via personal email. Moulitsas ended his post with the admonition that if people didn't like it, they "could go to other sites (which could certainly use the traffic)," but that he was going to focus on "the important shit." This front page article unleashed the firestorm of commentary that has subsequently become known as "the Pie Fight."

On Monday, June 6, an even more risqué 60-second "director's cut" of the advertisement was placed on the site. This version was explicitly targeted at mature audiences and was only viewable between 10pm and 5am EST. The new ad, combined with increased commentary about Markos' response to others' criticisms, kept the Pie Fight and related discussion going for a week. The final comment in the research

corpus was posted on June 13, nine days after the initial diary entry. The comments, discussions, and subsequent diaries from the Pie Fight are the focus of this research.

Total Number of Authors, Comments, Ratings

During the week in which the Pie Fight took place, approximately 5,000 community members wrote a comment on the site, with 1,820 community members (about 36% of the active member base) participating in the twenty-eight Pie Fight diaries, either by writing or rating a comment. Given these numbers, a conservative estimate of the number of member-lurkers who read the Pie Fight diaries would be 3,180 members. However, because the site receives approximately half a million unique visits a day, it is impossible to know how many people – community members or not – viewed the diaries in this study.

Definition of Terms

The terms below were more thoroughly and generally explained in Chapter 2. They are included here as a review, with special attention to how they are of import to the present research.

Diary

A Diary is similar to an article or opinion piece, a story designed to inspire and initiate discussion on a particular topic. Diaries are typically much longer than comments. At the time of the Pie Fight, each Daily Kos member could only post one Diary per day, so it is understood that authors put more care and attention to crafting a diary than they might to writing a comment. There were 28 diaries within the Pie Fight, two of which were written by site owner Moulitsas.

Comment

A comment is a written response, either to the diary or to another comment. There are no restrictions on how many comments a Daily Kos member may post in a day. There were 7,238 comments within the Pie Fight diaries, written by 1,279 authors.

Thread

A thread is a string of related comments, a conversation that begins with each first comment responding to the initial diary. Threads are typically arranged in sequential order, with each subsequent comment slightly indented to the right and below the comment to which it is responding. However, more recent comments within a thread which began earlier at a point in time may appear on the page before comments posted earlier in time but in a subsequent thread. More than one comment can be posted in response to a parent comment located earlier in the thread, but each comment can only be directly threaded to a single earlier comment to which it is responding. The layout/presentation of the diary threads is intended to enable the community to engage in focused conversation that follows a topic throughout the thread. (See Figure 2 and Figure 3 in Chapter 1). There were 1,355 threads within the 28 diaries of the Pie Fight.

Rating

The purpose of the ratings is to place a valuation on the comments that are posted. The benefit for the writer in writing a highly valued comment is a possible increase in ratings privileges (e.g., the acquisition of trusted member status), increased standing in the community, and the satisfaction of having expressed oneself well in a public forum. The benefit to the community in rating comments is that they will, presumably, see more (or fewer) of the types of comments that they reward or punish with the appropriate rating.

Each member of Daily Kos may rate a comment using the following criteria, which are posted in a dropdown menu just below the author's name, and to the right of the "Reply to This" link: 1 – Unproductive, 2 – Marginal, 3 – Good, 4 – Excellent (See Figure 2 in Chapter 1). A convention of the site is that at least two people must rate a comment for the rating average to be "visible" to the community on the main comments page, which would be displayed with the average rating value followed by the number of ratings received, such as (3.89/11) for a comment with an average rating of 3.89, where 11 people rated the comment. In cases where only one member rated a comment, the display changes from (none/0) to (none/1). Interested readers can click on the (none/1) link to see the given rating value, but it is not displayed to the casual reader. There were 18,568 comment ratings given by 1,294 community members within the Pie Fight diaries. Only 1459 comments (receiving 5655 ratings) were evaluated for the current research.

Research Corpus Selection

In their entirety, the Pie Fight discussions took place in 28 diaries, containing 7,238 total comments in 1,355 total threads, written by 1,279 total authors (70% of the Pie Fight's total participants, with 44% of those participants contributing three or more comments). There were 18,568 comment ratings given by 1,294 community members (71% of the Pie Fight's total participants, with 56% of those participants rating three or more comments). In all, 753 participants (41%) made both comments and ratings, 526 participants (29%) wrote comments but did not rate any comments, and 541 participants (30%) rated comments but did not write any.

Numerous corpus selection criteria were considered and rejected for this study. Initially, I planned to do a close reading of all diaries in which over one-third of the comments received two or more ratings, regardless of the rating value. This number was chosen based on a preliminary review of the entire dataset and reflected my desire for a corpus that contained a minimum distribution of ratings of 1, 2, 3, and 4. However, further examination of these diaries and the distribution of the ratings they contained disclosed that the ratings for the majority of these diaries were overwhelmingly 4s, the highest rating possible.

To adequately address my hypotheses, but not over-represent data that would not add to the final analysis, I needed to measure both favorably rated comments (those which received a rating of 3 or 4), which the community would like to reward, as well as unfavorably rated comments (of 1 or 2), which the community would like to

see less of, as indicated by the explanation of ratings in Chapter 2. I initially sought diaries in which no more than 90% of the comment ratings were 4s and at least five percent of the ratings were 1s. Since the majority of all ratings in the corpus were complimentary, this selection was made to allow for inclusion of as many comments as possible that received a less than optimal rating.

The two diaries that were chosen for this research contained 1,459 comments, of which 72% received at least one rating, and there was a minimum distribution of comment ratings from 1 - 4 (8% of comments received at least one rating of 1, and 87% of comments received at least one rating of 4). This distribution is important because comments which receive ratings have received more attention, by definition, than comments which have not received a rating. That a member has taken the time to rate a comment, either positively or negatively, means that the comment was seen as deserving either special censure or special praise outside the normally expected value of comments on the site.

Both diaries were written by Markos Moulitsas Zúniga, the site owner, and they appeared on the front page of the site, which resulted in increased exposure, readership, and community participation.

All comments included in Markos' two front page diaries comprise the research corpus. Although six comments were not deemed codable, no comments were removed from study. The resulting database contained 1459 comments within 283 total threads. There were 149 single comment threads within the corpus.

Observed Frequency Calculation

A test run of a non-parametric chi-square calculation was made on a subset of the data. The chi-square statistic was determined to be inappropriate for the following reasons: the data being evaluated are more properly considered ordinal rather than categorical data; within the dataset, there were too many cells containing a zero value, which also make the chi-square problematic; and calculating a chi-square with 5 cells would not give specific information on where exactly the significant differences lie.

Instead, the observed frequency of ratings was used as a baseline measure to compare the allocation of ratings for the corpus as a whole against the ratings received by comments which received specific content analysis codes as described below. To calculate the observed baseline frequency of ratings, the total number of each rating given was divided by the total number of comments in both diaries in the sample. The observed baseline frequency for each rating is displayed in Table 1, below:

| Rating Value | Percentage of Dataset | Total # allocated | Observed Baseline Frequency | |
|------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------------|--|
| | | | per comment | |
| 1 (Unproductive) | 8.0% | 452 | .310 | |
| 2 (Marginal) | 2.77% | 157 | .108 | |
| 3 (Good) | 2.16% | 122 | .084 | |
| 4 (Excellent) | 87.07% | 4924 | 3.375 | |
| TOTALS | | 5655 | | |

Table 1. Summary of Ratings Allocated to Comments within the Dataset

While the majority of ratings within the sample were 4s (within the entire Pie Fight, the overall percentage of 4 ratings was upwards of 90%), the usage of other ratings bears further examination, as they were assigned almost exclusively to certain types of comments.

Comment Coding Overview

In order to determine how the community was using the rating system, comments needed to be coded as to their content. It is not enough to know that a certain percentage of comments within a thread were given ratings if the content of those comments remains unknown. If the community was using the rating system to support the conditions of deliberation, certain aspects regarding comment content needed to be called out.

All comments were hand coded in the context of the thread in which they appeared. The original codes and my adaptations are included in Appendices. My adaptations were developed based on the research question and then piloted with two additional researchers. All coding was done by the researcher, with the acknowledgement that this could limit the reliability of the resulting findings. The codebook development and procedure are described in more detail in the next section.

Codebook Development and Coding Procedure

In my previous research on this community I used a grounded theory approach to developing content analysis codes to determine how the community used various conflict resolution techniques and how they communicated about their experience of the Pie Fight. The present research used *a priori* development of codes, which were created to test for the presence of specific elements in conjunction with expected ratings behavior. As such, a specific and defined number of codes was developed before coding began. The codes were consolidated based on the literature which enabled me to focus my energies toward the issues I felt would be most valuable (agreement and community values) as well as my previous research which spotlighted certain types of communication about the community itself.

The selected diary comments were coded using a codebook developed after examination of interactivity and community formation content analysis codes (Beauchot and Buellen 2005; Cassell and Tversky 2005; Rafaeli and Sudweeks 1997), and Bales' (1950) interaction process analysis system (IPA) (discussed in Neuendorf (2002)), in conjunction with my experience as an observer of the community and with deliberation concepts discussed within the literature review. In addition to agreement and disagreement, the codes measured deliberative and community-specific values, which were not included in the standardized interactivity measures used by earlier researchers.

After reflection on the suggestions made during and after the colloquium, I piloted the original coding scheme with closer attention to the hypotheses, and the codes needed to test them. After this study, I reduced the number of codes from twenty-five to twelve. A new coding scheme was then piloted with two test coders—

fellow Ph.D. candidates—using comments from the main corpus. Additional revisions to the coding scheme were based on their input.

Pilot testing of the codebook also revealed that ratings information attached to the comments seemed to affect the way the reader interpreted a comment, which had an impact on coding decisions. Comments which did not receive ratings were assumed to be of lesser value to the community and a comment's received rating value and/or number of ratings also had an effect as far as whether or not it was seen as a negative or positive comment.

Consequently, at no time during actual coding was the number of ratings a comment received, nor the final rating value, visible to the coder, so as not to bias a coding decision in any direction. In this way, each comment was considered both in context of the conversation, but also in isolation in terms of its perceived value to the community. The resulting coding did not take into account any effects of social contagion which may have occurred if community members rated comments in response to previously allocated ratings. I acknowledge that despite my best efforts, there may be bias inherent in the coding of the data, as is true in all content analysis undertaken by only one person.

Individual Comment as Unit of Meaning

For this study, the initial unit of measurement was the individual comment message. This measure has several advantages. Standardizing on the message creates an objectively identifiable unit whose parameters have been created by its author

(Rourke, Anderson, Garrison, and Archer 2000). Even though there may be multiple meanings embedded within each message, there is no question about the centrality of the message as the unit of analysis.

An additional justification to consider the individual message as the final unit of meaning was based on the subsequent application of the codes, which were analyzed in conjunction with the ratings each individual message received. Although community members may have been rating in response to only one aspect of the comment, or to a more general tone of the comment, their ratings were given to the comment as a unit, so all aspects of the message had to be considered in the same grouping. Multiple codes per message were allowed and expected, and because the codes were mutually exclusive, there were no codes that contradicted each other.

Researcher Developed Codes

The following overview of the codes used in this research is intended to supplement the more complete description of them, which is located in Appendix A.

Topic Centeredness: OFFTOPIC – Comment does not directly discuss the Pie Fight or Markos' right to run the ad. This relates to the deliberative goal of cohesive conversation. Is off-topic discussion rewarded, punished, or ignored?

Position on Markos or Ad: ANTI-M – Author indicates disagreement with Markos in running the ad, or with his form of address to the community; PRO-M – author indicates support of Markos running the ad; NEUT – author expresses 'lack of

understanding' about the high emotions surrounding the ad, or alternately believes that the community has more important things to discuss; INDE – author's viewpoint about the ad or Markos's rights as the community owner not able to be determined. This code was used to determine agreement or disagreement with the previous comment. It also was used to determine the diversity of the viewpoints of the commenters in the sample.

Position on Previous Message: AGRE / DISAG – Comment either expresses or implies agreement or disagreement with previous author's viewpoint, or with previous comment. This code was used to evaluate whether disagreement was present in the discussion. Does the group use ratings to create or reward an echo chamber of views?

Reserve: RESERV – Author indicates a desire to cease conversation about the Pie Fight or Markos' role as community owner. This code was used to evaluate the community's commitment to deliberation. Does the group want to keep the conversation going?

Profanity: PROFAN – Comment contains what is commonly acknowledged as profanity or coarse sexual language. Also includes acronyms. This code was used to measure the community's commitment to politeness as determined by sanctions or approval in relation to applied ratings. Is the use of profanity treated as a threat to civility? **Emotional Tone**: EMO+ – Emotional tone of comment is positive, calming, supportive, or humorous (with the exception of sarcasm or snark); EMO- – emotional tone of comment is negative, incendiary, angry, sarcastic, distrustful, accusatory, or contains an *ad hominem* attack; EMOIND – there is no perceptible emotional tone to comment – or it conveys merely factual information. This code was used to measure the community's commitment to deliberative goals of trustworthy communication behavior, and to civility as determined by sanctions or approval in relation to applied ratings. Are supportive comments uprated? Are destructive comments downrated?

Interpersonal: INTERPER – author relates a personal story about their offline life. This code was used to examine how personal revelations are received within the context of perspective-taking in deliberation. Are interpersonal narratives rewarded within the conversation?

Community as Entity: WE/US – author refers to the community as an entity with a past or a future, to the community as having changed over time, or to him/herself as part of that community. The comment does not have to include the terms we or us. This code was used to determine whether there is an understood community identity that supports deliberation. Are comments that speak to the community's past, present, or future rewarded?

Attempt at Humor: HUMOR – Comment includes an attempt at humor, wordplay, puns, sarcasm and the like (often used in conjunction with emotional tone). This code was used to determine whether the employment of humor was rewarded as a conflict minimizing and/or community development device within the context of deliberation. Is humor rewarded as a means of lessening tension?

Metacommunication: META+ / META- – Comment includes communication about other communication which took place earlier in the discussion about the Pie Fight or the community. META + comments include historical communications about how the community used to deliberate, or compliments in the context of the current discussion. META- comments include critiques about tone, profanity or the current deliberative state of the community. This code was used to measure the community's commitment to deliberative goals, specifically civility goals. How does the discussion about discussion get rated?

Group Reputation: GROUP+ / GROUP- – Comment includes communication about either the group's prior reputation and standing in the political community, or else about the group's reputation as a result of either running the Pie Fight ad or the community's discussion of the Pie Fight. This code was used to measure the community's commitment to deliberative goals as a part of their public reputation. Is there a community value about deliberation, or a sense of community reputation to uphold with regard to either how the community talks to each other, or what they talk to each other about?

Ratings Discussion: RATING+ / RATING- – Comment includes either a positive discussion of a high rating given to an exemplary or well-articulated comment; alternately, comment includes a complaint about the allocation of a low

rating given to a comment or author with whom the rater presumably disagreed. This code was used to measure the community's approval of discussion of ratings usage to support the conditions of deliberation. Is discussion about the means or mechanics of community moderation punished?

Machine Codes

Machine codes were automatically and transparently attached to each comment, and are described in Appendix B. These codes were used to facilitate the display of comments during coding, as well as providing location and ratings information for post-coding analysis. The codes were as follows: Comment Date, Comment Time, Number of Ratings, Value of Individual Ratings, Average Rating Value, Member ID, Number of Member Comments in Diary, Number of Member Comments in Thread, Number of Member Ratings in Diary, Number of Member Ratings in Thread, Comment Number in Diary, Comment Number in Thread, Comment Depth in Thread, Comment Parent. With the exception of the date, time, and thread location codes, these codes were not visible during the content analysis process.

Layout of Threads for Coding

The layout of comments on the page was similar to the layout of comments within the Daily Kos site, with indentation of each comment indicating response to the comment immediately above. On the site, hyperlinks take the reader to the parent comment to which the present comment is responding. This was not possible for pen and paper coding, so the organizational structure described in the following paragraphs was used.

As stated earlier, a comments thread is a string of coherent messages that are arranged to appear as a conversation as the reader reads down the page. Each comment in the dataset was assigned the following organizational markers, which were displayed below the content analysis codes, and above the body of each comment: Diary Number, Thread Number; Comment Number, Parent Comment, and Depth. The coding layout is described in more detail below, and is depicted in Figure 3 on page 81.

The originating Diary is treated as Comment 0, Depth 0, and has no Parent. Each comment that responds to the original diary has a Parent of 0 (the original comment number), begins a new thread, and is at Depth 1. The first comment in a thread is always Thread X.0, so that single comment threads can be removed from consideration in Hypothesis 1, which is a thread based measure.

The first comment in a diary would be labeled as Parent: 0, Depth: 1, Comment: 1, and is the first comment in Thread 1.0. The responding subsequent message would be Parent: 1, Thread: 1.1, Depth: 2, Comment: 2. The responding subsequent message would be Parent: 2, Thread 1.1, Depth 3, Comment: 3, and so on down the line.

The next comment responding to the initial diary, having a Parent of 0, would

begin Thread 2, and have Depth: 1, and a comment number reflecting its location

within the dataset.

In Figure 3, below, the first comment is located in Thread number 110,

Subthread 1, is Comment number 812, is responding to Parent comment 811, and is at

Depth level 4. The next comment is located in Thread number 110, Subthread 1, is

Comment number 813, is responding to Parent comment 812, and is at Depth level 5.

| | Diary: 4 | Thre | ad: 110.1 | Comment: 812 | Parent: 811 | Depth: 4 | | | |
|-----------------------|---|---|-----------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------|------------------|---|--|--|
| | in your opinion its offensive The offensiveness or non-offensiveness of the ad is not some objective fact. by goblue72 on Mon Jun 6th, 2005 at 00:52:19 PDT | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| OFFTOPIC INTERPERS | ANTI-M / | PRO-M / /US | NEUT / INDE HUMOR | AGRE / DISAG META+ / META- | RESERV GROUP+ / GF | PROFAN ROUP- | EMO+ / EMO- / EMOIND RATING+ / RATING- | | |
| | Diary: | 4 T | hread: 110.1 | Comment : 813 | Parent: 812 | 2 Depti | h : 5 | | |
| | Hmmi | Hmmm, I just observed that | | | | | | | |
| | this ad obviously offended some. That makes it offensive. | | | | | | | | |
| | What's Must i | What's your criteria? Must it offend everyone to be offensive? | | | | | | | |
| | by bri | by bribri on Mon Jun 6th, 2005 at 01:12:39 PDT | | | | | | | |
| | ONITE NA (| | | | DECEDV | | | | |
| INTERPERS | WE | PRO-M / /US | HUMOR | META+ / META- | GROUP+ / GF | ROFAN ROUP- | RATING+ / RATING- | | |
| | Di | ary:4 | Thread : 110 | 0.1 Comment : 8 | B14 Parent: | 813 D | epth : 6 | | |
| | Following your logic | | | | | | | | |
| | is Spongebob offensive to you? He apparently is offensive to some so | | | | | | | | |
| | by | dmac or | ı Mon Jun 6th, | 2005 at 06:07:38 Pl | т | | | | |
| OFFTOPIC | ANTI-M / | PRO-M / | NEUT / INDE | AGRE / DISAG | RESERV | PROFAN | EMO+ / EMO- / EMOIND | | |
| INTERPERS | VVE | /05 | HUMUR | MEIA+ / MEIA- | GROUP+ / GF | (UUP- | RATING+ / RATING- | | |
| | | Diary: 4 | F Thread: | 110.1 Commer | it: 815 Pare | ent : 814 | Depth: 7 | | |
| | | Don't fo | rget Barney | or Poland! (n/t) | | | | | |
| | | by bribr | i on Mon Jun 6 | ith, 2005 at 09:33:2: | 2 PDT | | | | |

Figure 3. Diary Coding Example

In the event that a comment within Thread 1 responds to an earlier Parent comment than the comment immediately prior, that comment starts a new subthread, which is numbered Thread 1.2. The Parent comment number is then used to identify the comment that is being responded to, to assist with contextualization during coding.

All comments within the data set were date- and time-stamped at the bottom of the comment, to the right of the author's name, but are numbered in the database in the order in which they appear on the page within their respective threads. In some cases, a comment that was posted at a later time in the lifespan of the conversation will appear earlier in the data set because it is responding to a comment within the context of a conversation thread.

The list of codes was placed above each comment in the following order: OFFTOPIC ANTI-M / PRO-M / NEUT / INDE AGRE / DISAG RESERV PROFAN EMO+ / EMO- / EMOIND INTERPER WE/US HUMOR META+ / META-GROUP+ / GROUP- RATING+ / RATING-

and the appropriate code was circled after the comment was read.

Reading and Coding Procedure

The research coding procedure consisted of reading the originating diary before every coding session began, followed by the Parent comment of the comment to be coded. Subsequent comments were read in the order displayed on the page, within the context of the thread. Comments were displayed in the same order and indentation as was on the website, and the content codes were included in the list at the top of each comment, as described in the previous section. All comments were read according to their position in the conversation and were coded with the applicable content and tone codes immediately after the comment was read. Codes were circled upon the completion of each comment. This adaptation of reading a comment and then coding it immediately, rather than reading the entire comment thread before coding, was made because my previous research indicated that people typically rated comments "on the fly," so the coding interpretation needed to occur within the same frame of reference. Every comment was read and coded, whether or not it received a rating.

After the pen and paper measures were completed, the applicable comment codes were transferred to an Excel spreadsheet for further analysis with the measures described below.

Statistical Procedure

The diaries analyzed for this research contained at least one comment rating for 72% of the comments, and two or more comment ratings (meaning that the resulting average rating was visible to the community within the context of the conversation) for 55% of the comments. This percentage is noteworthy because a minimum percentage of comments should be rated to provide a differential between those comments which have been rated and those which have not. Because the data existed prior to this research, this percentage is merely a descriptive rather than a

prescriptive value. Both diaries, however, have a similar distribution of ratings of 1, 2, 3, and 4.

Upon the completion of the content analysis and data entry, the comment's ratings information was appended to the end of each comment's row in the Excel file. The rating information consisted of the following machine coded values: the number of ratings the comment received, the average rating value of the comment (both of which are displayed to the right of the comment's title on the site), and a listing of every rating the comment received. The inclusion of all ratings values for analysis, rather than an analysis based on the average rating value, allowed for a more precise examination of the community's ratings behavior.

Comment Rating Analysis

Because the purpose of analysis for this research has to do with the attention community members give comments, every rating was analyzed, whether or not it resulted in the comment being given an average rating that was visible to the community. Initially, ratings information for only those comments with two or more ratings was going to be included in the analysis. However, this cutoff would have resulted in a dismissal of ratings information for about 16% of comments in the dataset. Even though single ratings were not visible to the community on the main page of the site—the rating value may be accessed by clicking on the ratings field, which opens a new page—that information is valuable to determine how the community uses ratings. Since I sought to measure community ratings a, when this

information was made available to my analysis due to improvements in the database, I decided to include it.

It is possible that as soon as a comment receives a rating that becomes visible to the community (which happens after it has received two ratings), that comment is then more likely to receive subsequent ratings attention from the community at large. Slightly more than half of the comments in the dataset (53%) did not have a visible rating, but almost 16% of the total number of comments did receive one comment rating. Almost 90% of the dataset had 10 or fewer ratings.

Research Question and Hypotheses

The Daily Kos forum is similar to earlier political forums in that registration is open to anyone with an email address and there are certainly people who post with the desire to "win," more than the desire for earnest, open political discussion. However, given that Daily Kos also enables its members to screen out or sanction undesirable content (via the comment-rating system which is discussed above, and in Chapter 2), it is possible that deliberation may occur.

Notwithstanding Rafaeli & Sudweeks' finding that interactive communities support agreement over discussion, I expected the members of the Daily Kos community to discuss a diversity of views. I expected to find that the most highly rated threads contained posts which were relevant to the Pie Fight and served to inspire discussion (and possibly disagreement) among members, rather than posts

which contained personal attacks or put-downs that typically shut down discussion and contribute to an inhospitable environment where deliberation is unlikely to take place. More specifically, I expected that deliberation among members would be evidenced by comments which contain explicit disagreement with previous comments (or authors). Finally, I expected that comments which explicitly discussed the value of the community to the author—either as a safe place for the author to participate in political discussion (personal), or as a vanguard of progressive or democratic deliberation online (group reputation vis-à-vis commercial media)—or which discussed the community as an entity, would be more frequently, and favorably rated by community members.

The main research question addressed by this research is: Does a comment moderation system help an online community to support the conditions of deliberation? The following hypotheses were advanced, and their operationalization is described below.

H1: The community will use the rating system to support a diverse discussion of views within comments threads.

H2: The community will use the rating system to punish or diminish specific types of comments that hinder deliberation.

H3: The community will use the rating system to applaud or support specific types of comments that support conditions of deliberation.

As has been described in Chapter 2, the purpose of allowing community members to rate comments on Daily Kos is to increase the number of valuable or thoughtful comments and decrease the number of unproductive or disruptive comments in the discussion threads. The ratings system is designed to reward comments deemed "insightful, informative, moving or funny," and to denote progressive disapproval as comments move down the list toward those which add only "marginal" value to the conversation or are "unproductive, devoid of content, add nothing to the conversation, and/or are offensive" (Soj 2006). The current research focuses on determining whether or not the moderation system was being used in a systematic way to help users support the conditions of deliberation on the site.

Discussion of Procedure for Hypothesis 1

As presented during the colloquium, this measure was going to include the author's stance on Markos and the Pie Fight on one level followed by whether or not the author appeared to agree or disagree with the preceding comment in the other level. After coding the entire data set and evaluating the breakdown of Pro-Markos, Anti-Markos, Neutral and Indeterminate comments on one level and the Agree and Disagree comments on the other level, I determined that focusing only on the agreements and disagreements made the most sense as far as statistically evaluating the ratings information, and that the Pro-Markos, Anti-Markos, Neutral and Indeterminate comments did not add value to the analysis for the agreement factor. These codes were initially intended to be used for the conflict resolution component of the research, which was removed after an extensive review of the data indicated that addressing it would involve procedures outside the bounds of the current study.

H1: The community will use the rating system to support a diverse discussion of views within comments threads.

Operationalization: Comments that contain the highest number of high ratings (of 3 or 4) will occur more frequently within threads that contain people who disagree with each other's points of view.

The initial procedure for the ratings analysis component of this hypothesis involved adding all ratings within all comments in each individual thread in the corpus diaries. This resulted in a per-thread total ratings points value. From there I originally planned to use the average thread rating (with the total ratings points value divided by the number of comments in the thread) as a measure of community rating behavior. However, because the purpose of the hypothesis was to look at only positive ratings of 3 or 4, this measure was dropped because 1s and 2s are included in total rating points.

To address this hypothesis, I began by determining whether each thread contained more agreement or disagreement. I counted the number of comments that were hand-coded as agreeing (AGRE) or disagreeing (DISAG) with the previous comment within each thread; single comment threads that contained either code were also included in the analysis.

The agreement factor (Af) was then calculated for each thread by determining the difference between the number of comments that were hand-coded as AGRE and DISAG, and then dividing the result by the number of comments in each thread. Af will range from -1 (every comment was coded DISAG) to 1 (every comment was coded AGRE). Threads that did not contain either AGRE or DISAG comments were not included in the analysis (19 threads), although threads that had an Af of 0 resulting from an equal number of AGRE and DISAG coded comments were included in the corpus.

Using the resulting dataset, I determined the frequency of high ratings (of 3 or 4) within the selected threads in both diaries. The Frequency of high ratings (Fh) was calculated for each thread by totaling the number of high ratings (rate 3 + rate 4) and then dividing the result by the number of comments within the thread.

Fh = (rate3 + rate4)/number of comments

The results were calculated in SPSS for every thread in the dataset, using Pearson's R correlation coefficient. If more numerous positive ratings occurred within threads containing an agreement factor that was negative, the community would be said to support a diverse discussion of views. While this is a gross measure, it provides initial insight into whether or not the community is using the ratings scheme in support of more deliberative threads that involve more give and take versus using the ratings scheme in support of a string of comments that agree with each other.

Discussion of Procedure for Hypothesis 2 and Hypothesis 3

There were multiple ways to evaluate the resulting data concerning Hypothesis 2 and Hypothesis 3. Initially, the data for these hypotheses were to be analyzed using the average ratings value in relation to the content analysis codes, and then comparing the results with the average ratings value for comments in the remainder of the corpus. Because subsequent developments in the database allowed for additional and more focused examination of the ratings behavior/allocation by the community, this process was modified. An examination of the number of individual ratings for a given comment code allows for a more focused analysis of which community values are most important to the community members who rated the comments.

For Hypothesis 2 and Hypothesis 3, the number and percentage of received ratings is compared against the baseline frequency of the same ratings for the remainder of the dataset, as well as against the baseline frequency of the dataset as a whole.

Due to improvements in data collection and analysis that were made after the colloquium, I chose to evaluate comments based on their individual content codes in conjunction with individual ratings for each comment as described above, rather than the average rating value that was initially proposed. This allowed for a more precise examination of the ratings behavior of the community, which was based on individual or targeted grouping of content codes.

H2: The community will use the rating system to punish or diminish specific types of comments that hinder deliberation.

Operationalization: Comments that are coded with codes conceptualized as threats to the civility of the discussion will more frequently receive low ratings of 1 or 2 as compared to comments within remainder of the dataset, and the dataset as a whole.

To address this hypothesis, I created separate corpuses containing comments that were hand-coded with the following codes, conceptualized as threats to the civility of the discussion: those that were sarcastic, angry, or contained an *ad hominem* attack (EMO-); that contained profanity (PROFAN); or that contained a complaint about the way ratings were given to comments (RATING-).

Next, I determined the frequency of low ratings (of 1 or 2) for each of the coded comments within all threads in both diaries. The Frequency of low ratings (Fl) was calculated for all comments meeting the above coding criteria to come up with an average ratings frequency for the comments within the corpus subsets.

 $Fl_1 = rate1/number of comments.$

 $Fl_2 = rate2/number of comments.$

This average frequency measure was then compared against the baseline frequency for low ratings calculated for the remainder of comments in the dataset as well as against the dataset as a whole. The baseline value of low ratings per comment

for the entire corpus was used as a comparative measure to determine whether or not the comments within this dataset were more or less likely to receive a low rating.

The Frequency of low ratings (Fl) was calculated for each comment in the corpus and then compared against the remainder of comments in the dataset as well as against the dataset as a whole. The baseline value of low ratings per comment from the entire corpus was used as a comparative measure to determine whether or not the comments within the corpus subsets were more or less frequently given a low rating than the dataset as a whole.

H3: The community will use the rating system to applaud or support specific types of comments that support conditions of deliberation.

Operationalization: Comments that are coded with codes conceptualized as supporting deliberation, or deliberation as a community value will more frequently receive high ratings of 3 or 4 as compared to comments within remainder of the dataset, and the dataset as a whole.

To address this hypothesis I created separate corpuses containing comments that were hand-coded with the following group identity codes, conceptualized as indicating that deliberation is a community value: those that have been deemed to affirm the writer's community identity or purpose (WE/US), that discuss the community's political goals or reputation in a positive (GROUP+) or negative light (GROUP-), that include a personal narrative (INTERPER) and are off-topic

(OFFTOPIC), that are humorous (HUMOR) and off-topic (OFFTOPIC), ¹³ or that criticize poor communication behaviors within the Pie Fight (META-).

Metacommunication was separated into positive (META+) and negative (META-) categories to more accurately capture the tenor of the conversation about the metacommunication. META+ was not included as a measure in this instance because the focus of the measure is on the protection of the group's self-concept as deliberative, in response to a perceived threat.

The emotional tone of comments was not included as a measure in this instance because the focus of the measure is on the strength of community identity and mores, or interpersonal discussion – any comment focusing on these issues is considered to be addressing these measures, no matter how the content is stated.

Group Reputation comments included both positive (GROUP+) and negative (GROUP-) measures. Positive measures were more likely to discuss the scope or reach of the community in the media landscape. Negative coded comments might also include those issues, but also expressed concern about the negative effect of either the Gilligan's Island advertisement or the Pie Fight diaries themselves would have on the reputation of the Daily Kos community as an actor in the political landscape. Mentions of elected officials and their use or readership of the site were coded as either positive or negative, depending on the context of the comment. In either case, the

¹³ These types of comments are used to reduce or dissipate conflict by changing the subject or tone of a discussion thread (Serfaty, 2002).

acknowledgement that the group had a reputation to uphold or continue was the main focus.

Next, I determined the frequency of high ratings (of 3 or 4) for each of the coded comments within all threads in both diaries. The Frequency of high ratings (Fh) was calculated for all comments meeting the above coding criteria to come up with an average ratings frequency for the comments meeting the criteria.

 $Fh_3 = rate3/number of comments.$

 $Fh_4 = rate4/number of comments.$

The Frequency of high ratings (Fh) was calculated for each comment in the corpus and then compared against the remainder of comments in the dataset as well as against the dataset as a whole. The baseline value of high ratings per comment from the entire corpus was used as a comparative measure to determine whether or not the comments within the corpus subsets were more or less frequently awarded with a high rating than the dataset as a whole.
CHAPTER 5 FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

Overview of Data Set Statistics

The content analysis was undertaken with the two diaries that were authored by Markos, the site owner. These two Pie Fight diaries meet the desired criteria of number of posts which received a response and which received a distribution of ratings—almost half of the comments received two or more ratings; no more than 90% of the ratings were 4s, and at least 5% of the ratings were 1s. Because these two posts were on the front page of the site, and were written by the site owner, they were the most likely to have been discovered and read by the majority of community members in their casual visits to the site. Categorical tagging of posts had not yet become a feature of the site, which meant that members would have needed to put more effort into finding the other diaries which discussed the ad and Markos' response to it. The corpus is described in Table 2.

| | Pie Fight Ad (Diary #4) | Everything to Everyone (Diary #20) | Totals |
|------------------------|----------------------------|--|-------------|
| Number of Threads | 215 | 68 | 283 |
| Number of Comments | 1035 | 424 | 1459 |
| Comments that Received | | | |
| One Rating | 161 / 15.6% | 70 / 16.6% | 231 |
| Comments that Received | | | |
| Two or More Ratings | 510 / 49.3% | 180 / 42.5% | 690 |
| | | | |
| Ratings of 1 | 325 / 7.1% | 127 / 11.5% | 452 / 8% |
| Ratings of 2 | 113 / 2.5% | 44 / 4.0% | 157 / 2.8% |
| Ratings of 3 | 76 / 1.7% | 46 / 4.1% | 122 / 2.2% |
| Ratings of 4 | 4032 / 88.7% | 892 / 80.4% | 4924 /87.1% |
| | | | |
| Total Ratings | 4546 | 1109 | 5655 |

Table 2. Dataset Statistics

In the final accounting, the dataset included 1035 comments from Diary 1, and 424 comments from Diary 2 for a total of 1459 comments coded.

In Diary 1, six comments were not coded: two were duplicate comments which were coded previously, two comments were supposed to have been posted elsewhere according to their authors and so were not coded as part of the conversation, and two comments were not codable: one comment was in Spanish, and the other was impossible to interpret. None of these comments received a community rating, and because they represent such a small part of the dataset (.0041), their inclusion in the database in spite of not being coded will not adversely impact the subsequent findings. In Diary 2, all 424 comments were coded.

Discussion of findings

Hypothesis 1: The community will use the rating system to support a diverse discussion of views within comments threads. Comments that contain the highest number of high ratings (of 3 or 4) will occur more frequently within threads that contain people who disagree with each other's points of view.

Findings Based on Agreement

In terms of raw ratings, independent of what type of thread a comment was located in, 68.2% of comments coded as Disagree received one or more ratings, and 63.0% of comments coded as Agree received one or more ratings. 40.7% of comments that were coded as Indeterminate received one or more ratings. The percentage for comments coded as disagree was higher in both cases than the percentage for all comments in the corpus, which is approximately 62.6%. The fact that agree and disagree comments were more frequently rated speaks to the use of ratings in the service of supporting deliberation and discourse versus mere statements of fact.



Figure 4. Agreement Factor Distribution for Corpus

Within the corpus, there were far more threads that contained more disagreement than agreement. Specifically, 56% of threads had more comments coded as DISAG than AGRE (AF_NEG on chart), and 20% of threads had either no comments or an equal number of comments coded as DISAG and AGRE (AF_ZERO on chart), with only 24% of threads having more comments coded as AGRE (AF_POS on chart).



Number of high radings in thead

Figure 5. Correlation of High Ratings with Agreement Factor

When calculating Pearson's correlation coefficient for the 264 threads in both diaries, comprising the entire dataset, there was a slight negative correlation of -.083. Although this was statistically insignificant (at .177), the result means that there were more high ratings allocated to comments where the agreement factor was below zero and approaching -1 than for the comments where the agreement factor was above zero, approaching 1, which can be seen in Figure 5. This hypothesis was supported by the data, indicating that, perhaps because of the strong community cohesion that is evidenced by the findings in Hypothesis 3, the community does demonstrably value the discussion of disagreement.

Findings Based on Reserve

Although not initially included in the procedures for Hypothesis 1, an examination of the RESERV comments (those which contained a plea or admonition for the conversation to cease) provides additional evidence that the community supports deliberation over silence. The minuscule number of comments within the dataset that were coded as RESERV (2.12%) adds to the conception of the community's appreciation and support of deliberation versus quelling disagreement. Even when the comments appeared within threads that were deeply contentious, the number of ratings they received never went above the baseline ratings observed for the dataset as a whole. The results are described in Table 3.

In Table 3 through Table 12, below, numbers in parentheses signify the number of ratings within the category divided by the number of comments in each category, denoting the observed frequency of ratings in that category. In the shaded area, the number immediately preceding the number in parentheses indicates the difference between the observed frequency of ratings in the code category versus the observed frequency of ratings given within the dataset as a whole. Numbers in the shaded area preceding the parentheses that are below 1 indicate that ratings were given less frequently in the code category than in the dataset as a whole; a number of 1 indicates that ratings were given equally as frequently in the category as in the dataset as a whole, and a number higher than 1 indicates that ratings were given more

frequently in the category than in the dataset as a whole. A complete table listing all comment codes and ratings frequencies is located in Appendix C.

| RESERV | Comments | 3s | 4s | 3s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 4s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|----------|----------|-----|------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Yes | 31 | 2 | 97 | 0.75 (0.06) | 0.93 (3.13) | 0.92 (3.19) |
| No | 1428 | 120 | 4827 | 1.00 (0.08) | 1.00 (3.38) | 1.00 (3.46) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 122 | 4924 | (0.08) | (3.38) | (3.46) |

Table 3. Findings Based on Reserve

Hypothesis 2: The community will use the rating system to punish or diminish specific types of comments that hinder deliberation. The community will punish negative behavior (comments which are angry, contain sarcasm or attack, contain profanity, or which negatively discuss ratings behavior), by more frequently giving those comments a low rating (of 1 or 2).

As mentioned elsewhere, a comment ratings system is designed to give members the ability to control the types of communication on the site. When used conscientiously and well, it can increase the ratio of signal to noise on the site, by rewarding good comments, while punishing those that do little to add to a reasoned conversation. The results were as follows:

Findings Based on Emotional Tone

EMO- comments where those which contained anger, sarcasm, *ad hominem* attack, arguments in bad faith, name calling, or described the writer's negative emotional state. Profanity could also be present, but the presence of profanity did not always result in a negative emotional tone coding. EMO+ comments were those which were complimentary, calming, or described the writer's positive emotional state. Comments with a neutral emotional tone (EMOIND) contained neither of the above descriptors and conveyed primarily factual information.

EMO- codes were more likely to receive ratings of 1 and 2 than any other comment within the dataset, at almost twice the frequency. However, they were also almost as likely to receive 4 ratings as other comments in the corpus. This information is not displayed in the table below, but is included in Appendix C.

There were 332 comments that were hand-coded EMO- and a total of 1127 comments coded EMO+ (312) or EMOIND (815). The six uncoded comments were included in the EMOIND category.

| Emotional Tone | Comments | 1s | 2s | 1s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 2s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|---------------------|----------|-----|-----|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Negative (EMO-) | 332 | 277 | 93 | 2.68 (0.83) | 2.60 (0.28) | 2.64 (1.11) |
| Positive (EMO+) | 312 | 44 | 8 | 0.45 (0.14) | 0.24 (0.03) | 0.40 (0.17) |
| Neutral (EMOIND) | 815 | 131 | 56 | 0.52 (0.16) | 0.65 (0.07) | 0.55 (0.23) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 452 | 157 | (0.31) | (0.11) | (0.42) |

Table 4. Findings Based on Emotional Tone

As seen in Table 4, EMO- comments were given a low rating every 1.11 comments, EMO+ comments were given a low rating every .17 comments, and the remainder of comments in the sample were rated low every .23 comments. There is a marked difference in the frequency of low ratings assigned to comments throughout the sample, such that comments which were coded as EMO- received ratings of 1 at more than two and a half times the baseline frequency (2.68). This supports the hypothesis that the community will seek to police itself by giving low ratings to comments that violate the norms of emotional expression.

Findings Based on Discussion of Ratings

Negative discussion of ratings allocation (RATING-) comprised comments which contained a complaint or critique about ratings being given – the ascribed rating could be either high or low. Positive comments about ratings allocation (RATING+) often contained the phrase "Here's a 4" or the ratings value of 4 in the title. These typically occurred in response to the RATINGS+ comment author's perceived mistreatment of the commenter being addressed, and to whom the RATINGS+ author had also presumably given the 4 rating. In essence, ratings positive comments described or explained the reasoning for giving a different commenter a positive rating, while RATINGS- comments contained complaints about the way the ratings system was being used, either against the RATINGS- author or against another commenter in the thread.

There were 54 comments that were hand-coded RATING-. There were 38 comments coded RATING+ and 1367 commends that did not discuss comment ratings at all.

| RATINGS | Comments | 1s | 2s | 1s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 2s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|----------|----------|-----|-----|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Negative | 54 | 27 | 5 | 1.61 (0.50) | 0.84 (0.09) | 1.40 (0.59) |
| Positive | 38 | 13 | 5 | 1.10 (0.34) | 1.21 (0.13) | 1.12 (0.47) |
| No code | 1367 | 412 | 147 | 0.97 (0.30) | 1.02 (0.11) | 0.98 (0.41) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 452 | 157 | (0.31) | (0.11) | (0.42) |

Table 5. Findings Based on Ratings

As seen in Table 5, RATING- comments were given a low rating every .59 comments, RATING+ comments were given a low rating every .47 comments, and the remainder of comments in the corpus were rated low every .41 comments. There is a slight difference in the frequency of low ratings assigned to comments throughout the corpus, such that comments coded as RATING- were 1.47 times more frequently given a rating of either 1 or 2 than comments which did not discuss ratings at all (.59/.41), Given the relatively small number of comments within the corpus (about 4%) that negatively discussed ratings, this finding seems to indicate that the community does not consider such comments valuable to the discussion, and they are almost half again as likely to give such comments a negative rating in response.

The fact that these comments received so many low ratings, in spite of their limited representation within the dataset as a whole, demonstrates the extra effort that the community took to rate these comments. From this we can infer that the community does not want to see ratings discussed within the comments threads about more substantive issues. Since ratings are intended to be used to elevate or demote specific types of comments in the service of more high-quality deliberation on the site, then negative discussion about their use is clearly unwelcome and counterproductive. Adding to this interpretation, Daily Kos community modified the ratings system in early 2006. The current scheme shows only a raw number of "+" ratings and "-" ratings, which seems to indicate that while the use of 1-4 ratings may have elevated the overall level of commentary, discussion or complaint about low ratings was seen as disruptive to the community.

Findings Based on Profanity

Comments coded as PROFAN include the commonly accepted terms that are sanctioned during primetime commercial television and radio broadcasts. Also included were slang terms that were not necessarily sanctioned but are nonetheless offensive within polite conversation. There were 215 comments that were hand-coded PROFAN and a total of 1244 comments that did not contain profanity.

| PROFANITY | Comments | 1s | 2s | 1s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 2s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|-----------------|----------|-----|-----|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Yes (PROFAN) | 215 | 122 | 40 | 1.84 (0.57) | 1.77 (0.19) | 1.81 (0.76) |
| No | 1244 | 330 | 117 | 0.87 (0.27) | 0.84 (0.09) | 0.86 (0.36) |
| Yes + HUMOR | 30 | 33 | 6 | 3.55 (1.10) | 1.86 (0.20) | 3.55 (1.30) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 452 | 157 | (0.31) | (0.11) | (0.42) |

Table 6. Findings Based on Profanity

As seen in Table 6, comments coded PROFAN received ratings at a higher proportion when compared to comments within the remainder of the dataset. Lower ratings were given to PROFAN comments at a rate of 1.84 more frequently (for 1s) and 1.77 more frequently (for 2s) than comments in the rest of the corpus.

However, PROFAN comments also received more ratings of 3 (1.67 more frequently) and 4 (1.67 more frequently) than the remainder of comments in the dataset. This could be explained by a finding by Herring et al. (2002:379) which found that "nonspecific use of obscenities was considered to be emphatic, while obscenities directed at a specific person were considered to be hostile." I cannot say that the community rates solely to reduce the amount of profanity that is used for selfexpression within comments, but it is clear that comments containing profanity received more attention, proportionally, than the majority of other comments in the diaries. Hypothesis 3: The community will use the rating system to applaud or support specific types of comments that support conditions of deliberation. The community will reward positive behavior (comments with codes conceptualized as supporting deliberation, or deliberation as a community value), by more frequently giving those comments a high rating (of 3 or 4).

Findings Based on Community as Entity

In addition to comments which used the word we or us within the text, WE/US coded comments included discussion about the community as an entity of which the commenter is a part or that was important to the commenter. References to the community's past and future were also included in this category. There were 186 comments that were hand-coded WE/US and a total of 1273 comments that were not coded WE/US.

| WE/US | Comments | 3s | 4s | 3s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 4s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|----------|----------|-----|------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Yes | 186 | 22 | 777 | 1.44 (0.12) | 1.24 (4.18) | 1.24 (4.30) |
| No | 1273 | 100 | 4147 | 0.96 (0.08) | 0.97 (3.26) | 0.97 (3.34) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 122 | 4924 | (0.08) | (3.38) | (3.46) |

Table 7. Findings Based on Community as Entity

As seen in Table 7, there was a slight difference in the number of positive ratings each WE/US comment received compared to the remainder of the dataset. These comments were about 25% more frequently given a 4 rating than the remainder of comments in the corpus. The results support the hypothesis somewhat, but not a great deal.

What is interesting about these comments is the use of the 3 rating; 20% of 3s were located in comments comprising 13% of the dataset. The use of the 3 rating in the WE/US category, even though the total number is so small, is still worth noting. In the current corpus, the 3 rating may have been given in order to provide recognition for comments that reflect a concern for the community by taking the time to denote them as Good for the conversation, even if the content doesn't necessarily meet the criteria for an Excellent comment. Because these comments were discussing community identity, and since the topic under discussion was how the Pie Fight had already affected or could negatively change the community, this targeted allocation of 3 ratings adds to the interpretation of the community identity as a deliberative group. Whether or not all community members comported themselves well within the Pie Fight, at least some commenters spoke of the community identity as something to be returned to or cherished. This use of the Good (3) rating was a way for fellow members to show their appreciation and support, whether or not they chose to add a "me, too" comment as well.

Findings Based on Group Reputation

Concerning as they do issues of the site's reputation as something of value, GROUP+ and GROUP- are not exactly obverse measures, although the ratings that each type of comment received make it clear that the community seemed to value

those comments which expressed concern and value the group's reputation as something that is mutable and worthy of protection. Although there were not many comments that discussed the group's reputation, they were responsible for a significant proportion of ratings activity.

| GROUP | Comments | 3s | 4s | 3s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 4s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|----------|----------|-----|------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Positive | 5 | 1 | 26 | 2.39 (0.20) | 1.54 (5.20) | 1.56 (5.40) |
| Negative | 26 | 3 | 232 | 1.44 (0.12) | 2.64 (8.92) | 2.61 (9.04) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 122 | 4924 | (0.08) | (3.38) | (3.46) |

 Table 8. Findings Based on Group Reputation

Table 8 shows a marked difference in the location of positive ratings comments tagged with GROUP+ received in the dataset. There were only 5 GROUP+ comments (.34% of the dataset) to be analyzed. These comments were rated 4 more than half again as frequently as the entire dataset. Given their small number, it is difficult to make sweeping claims about their importance. However, the fact that the community took the time to rate these comments at all, in spite of their paucity in the dataset, shows that they were seen as especially deserving in the context of the conversation. I believe that as people encountered these comments, they chose to uprate them because they were saying something unique, and because they were indicating that the community's reputation was something worth protecting.

The GROUP- comments had an even more marked ratings percentage. These comments represented only 1.78% of the dataset, and yet were given 4s at a rate of

over two and half times the rating frequency as the baseline 4 comments. From this we can infer that the community members who participated in rating these comments felt very strongly that the Pie Fight, or the ad itself, could adversely affect the community's reputation in the wider world.

There are subtleties in the differences of the codes here, but I would like to focus on people speaking about the community as a place with value and reputation. One notable GROUP+ comment contained an entreaty that a valued member not leave, because it would tarnish the group's reputation. That single comment, one of five coded as GROUP+, received sixteen of the twenty-six 4s in the sample. GROUPcomments tended to contain complaints that the community was not well served by having this type of advertising on the front page, or that the intra-group dialogue about the advertisement and about the community value system being hashed out in public was somehow ignominious. Feelings that the community should be "better than this" were coded as WE/US; the GROUP- code was added when the community's public face or Congressional members were mentioned. When 4 ratings are clustered so dramatically—e.g., located in comments responsible for 3/1000th of the dataset in the case of GROUP+ comments—it appears that the community is demonstrably focusing their ratings activity to elevate comments that support a specific and positive community self-concept.

Regarding GROUP-, there was likewise a fairly high amount of interest and energy and engagement around this discussion. It is also possible, although I did not

test for this, that these comments were more likely to be longer and more impassioned, and thus there was more content to which a rating could be attached.

Findings Based on Interpersonal + Topic Relatedness

The rationale behind this particular measurement was that the community would value off topic conversation, as long as it promotes a deeper level of intimacy or community understanding between members. This was not supported by the data – in fact, OFFTOPIC comments in general did not receive ratings at the baseline level for any of the ratings values. This would seem to indicate that while off-topic conversation is tolerated within the community, it is neither highlighted as especially worthwhile to the discussion, nor downrated to reduce its visibility to those members who choose to read comments rated at or above a certain rating.

| OFF TOPIC | Comments | 3s | 4s | 3s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 4s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|-----------|----------|-----|------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| +INTERPER | 62 | 2 | 106 | 0.36 (0.03) | 0.51 (1.71) | 0.50 (1.74) |
| INTERPER | 109 | 8 | 417 | 0.88 (0.07) | 1.13 (3.83) | 1.13 (3.90) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 122 | 4924 | (0.08) | (3.38) | (3.46) |

Table 9. Findings Based on Topic Relatedness + Interpersonal

As seen in Table 9, only 62 comments were coded as INTERPER and

OFFTOPIC, and they were only given a positive rating between one-third and one-half as frequently as comments the dataset as a whole. This seems to indicate that the community does not often rate comments that expressly do not add to the conversation, even when those comments could be considered as adding to the intimacy and community feeling on the site.

Within the context of deliberation, interpersonal revelations can help to increase perspective-taking which then can increase participants' ability to understand a broader range of viewpoints. The 108 INTERPER comments were rated slightly more frequently than the average, indicating that within the context of the discussion, comments containing interpersonal information were seen to have some value. An indepth examination of the content of these comments is beyond the purview of this study.

Findings Based on Humor + Other Comment Codes

| HUMOR | Comments | 3s | 4s | 3s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 4s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|------------|----------|-----|------|------------------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| + OFFTOPIC | 144 | 16 | 185 | 1.32 (0.11) | 0.38 (1.28) | 0.40 (1.39) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 122 | 4924 | (0.08) | (3.38) | (3.46) |

Table 10. Findings Based on Humor + Off Topic

My initial expectation was that the community would reward comments which seek to "lighten the mood" and mitigate conflict by moving the conversation off topic with a joke. As with the WE/US comments, the 3 ratings were given at a markedly higher frequency than the remainder of the dataset. This supports my supposition that the 3 ratings are being awarded specifically to comments that are pro-community, even if, as in this case, they may not be very substantive. However, given the nature of the subject matter being discussed, it is perhaps not surprising that some of the humor that ensued bordered on the puerile. In fact, the Humor and Off topic comments included the notorious thread which was 27 comments deep, and which contained a lengthy list and discussion of slang terms for a woman's breasts. That discovery led me to examine the number of humor + profanity comments to determine whether there was a relationship there as well; specifically, whether those comments received more negative than positive ratings.

| HUMOR | Comments | 1s | 2s | 1s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 2s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|----------|----------|-----|-----|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| + PROFAN | 30 | 33 | 6 | 3.55 (1.1) | 1.86 (0.2) | |
| Baseline | 1459 | 452 | 157 | (0.31) | (0.11) | (0.42) |

Table 11. Findings Based on Humor + Profanity

Only 30 comments in the corpus were coded with both HUMOR and PROFAN tags, with ratings being assigned high above the baseline frequency for comment ratings of 1 and 2. There were also a number of 4 ratings given to these comments, though those comments only reached .73 of the baseline frequency of 4 allocations.

Without interviewing the people who did the ratings battle, there is no way of knowing why positive ratings were given to the notorious nine comments in the "Bazongas" thread discussing preferred slang terminology for the female breast. Of the 33 ratings of 1, three comments were given six 1s, two comments were given five 1s, one comment got two 1s, and three comments got one 1. As with the GROUP+ coded comments discussed above, this minuscule portion of the dataset (.06%)

received a disproportionate amount of ratings attention (7% of all 1 ratings), indicating that comment moderation was being used in a targeted fashion by the community. The ability to do this level of analysis was facilitated by the small number of comments within this particular dataset.

The comments described above also received enough 4 ratings to bump the average rating to above a 1. As with the rest of the dataset, there is no display of the zero ratings, so it is unknown whether any zeroes were given to these comments, and if so, how many 4s were required to make the comment visible to the community at large. At least two possibilities exist. First, that raters gave 4s to support the authors who the raters may have felt were being unfairly maligned within the community for what the raters saw as a harmless attempt to lighten the mood. Alternately, that raters gave 4s in order to daylight what they felt were egregious comments, in an effort to show that the community's ethos had changed and that it was not as progressive or feminist as it may once have been. A more extensive content analysis (and information about which members gave which ratings), and possibly an interview with the raters and authors, would be useful to pursue either hypothesis.

Findings Based on Metacommunication Negative

| METACOMM | Comments | 3s | 4s | 3s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | 4s vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) | Total vs. Baseline (obs. freq.) |
|----------|----------|-----|------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Positive | 28 | 0 | 37 | 0 (0) | 0.39 (1.32) | 0.38 (1.32) |
| Negative | 297 | 29 | 2186 | 1.20 (0.10) | 2.18 (7.36) | 2.16 (7.46) |
| Baseline | 1459 | 122 | 4924 | (0.08) | (3.38) | (3.46) |

Table 12. Findings Based on Metacommunication Negative

Comments coded as META- (meaning that the comment included a discussion of the way the commenters in the diary were talking about the Pie Fight issue and these comments were critical of the tone of the commentary) were more likely to receive a 4 ratings than any other type of comment in the corpus except for GROUP-. META- comments do not have the same qualities as EMO- comments, which concern specific yet more latent behaviors, such as sarcasm, name-calling or arguing in bad faith. In contrast, META- commenters usually expressed sadness or disappointment (although sometimes anger, which garnered an EMO- code) about the way the discussion was progressing, or the way that community members expressed themselves. These comments definitely reflect a pro-community bias as they express concern about the communication behaviors of community members, and they are based on the idea that there are expectations of community norms which are not being met.

What is even more interesting, however, is the sheer number of 4 ratings that comments in this category received: 2,154. This number represents about 44% of all of

the 4 ratings for the entire corpus, given to comments that represented just 20% of the dataset. It is quite clear that the community was incredibly affected by the tone of commentary as it differs from what their expectation of a good community should be, and that the community had previously upheld those expectations of deliberative, respectful communication.

Additional Observations on Ratings

Ratings Splits within Comments – Use of 1 and 4

In my Master's thesis (Soma 2007), I found that the mere mention of giving a 1 rating to a comment caused an agitated response, whether or not the rating was actually given. I have to wonder if the balancing of the 1s with 4s was used to support the right of every community member to expression. Other possible explanations might be that friends of the aggrieved community member might uprate a comment as a gesture of personal support and aid, or to offer their understanding of one's previous status and participation in the community, or lastly to ensure that the author not lose Mojo because of a misunderstanding of a good faith intention. At the least, such a behavior demonstrates that some community members do take pains to be sure that all constituents of the community are heard from, even those that other people in the community have deemed marginal.

Middle of the Road Ratings – Use of 2 and 3

Ratings of 2 seemed to be more broadly dispersed rather than localized, so it is less likely that they were used in a targeted fashion by the community. Where 3s were

localized, they seem to have been used to offer support to comments that express group norms and values, specifically WE/US and HUMOR + OFFTOPIC.

Also of note, EMO- comments received a rating of 3 at the highest frequency per comment within the dataset for which there was a considerable number of comments, with 3s given at 1.91 times the baseline frequency.¹⁴ This may be explained by the fact that a 3 rating doesn't connote the approval or comment valuation level of a 4, but still may be used to elevate the author's standing in the community (via Mojo). An alternate interpretation is that the 3 rating was used either to support the commenter who had taking a ratings hit of 1 or 2, for expressing either justifiable anger (in the rater's point of view), or else to applaud the author for their use of what might be considered amusing sarcasm. The purposeful use of negative communication such as sarcasm, irony or wordplay can foster a sense of community, neutralize unwanted behaviors, and assert dominance over other community members, serving to create or enforce community cohesion (Serfaty 2002).

Usefulness of a Varied Ratings Format

One surprising concentration of 2s was in the GROUP- category. Without interviewing the people who gave the ratings, it is impossible to know why these ratings were given. One theory is that the members giving the 2 ratings felt that the commenters were taking the situation too seriously, or that the raters were otherwise

¹⁴ GROUP+ received one rating of 3, which represented 20% of its dataset, so it is not considered in the same category.

trying to limit comments to a more limited range of topic. As described earlier, the 3 ratings could have been used to offer moral support to authors whose comments might not advance the discussion, but do speak to community norms and values that the writer and rater would like to see applauded or preserved.

In spite of their limited use within the corpus, the gradations of the ratings system seemed to allow for a more reasoned, considered approach to providing feedback by the community. The benefit here is that, while comment ratings could be used to overwhelm a minority segment of the population, the way ratings actually are used seems to indicate otherwise. I suspect there is a psychological underpinning to the use of these types of ratings, in which the intent of the author of the comment is seen as a valuable contribution, and is supported whether or not the comment itself was either so exemplary or so unproductive as to deserve a rating at either extreme of the scale.

The comment rating system that was in use on Daily Kos seemed to be employed to allow a diverse segment of the community to speak freely, while also encouraging members to pay close attention to the perceived value of their communications. At the same time, it provided all members, lurkers and commenters alike, the means of expressing their valuations of the commentary that occurred.

Limitations

Hidden Comments

As mentioned in Chapter 1, comments with an average rating of <1 (e.g., any comment which receives a 0 and a 1, or multiple 0s in combination with any sum for which the average will be less than 1) are hidden from view of the average member. Numerous references to these hidden comments testify to their volubility and rancor; whenever hidden comments are mentioned on the site, members frequently state that they "need to shower" after reading them. Study of these hidden comments would have been a useful adjunct to this research, showing, as they would, which comments were deemed unproductive by the community's Trusted Users. However, they are not publicly available, and my communications to the site owner requesting access went unanswered.

Ratings Timeframe

Within Slashdot, time elapsed from the originating comment in a thread was shown to have a deleterious effect on the moderation frequency of later comments. Specifically, comments posted later in the life of comments threads, or deeper within a thread were less likely to receive a rating, when compared to the moderating attention earlier comments received. This led to the researchers' conclusion that ratings were "not entirely fairly applied to all comments" (Lampe and Resnick 2004:138). Since this research did not incorporate chronological information into the statistical analysis of the ratings, it is unknown whether this was a factor either in the number or type of ratings comments received, nor in when certain types of comments were posted.

Social Contagion and Individual Ratings Analysis

Because this study did not incorporate the timestamp of individual comment ratings, the possibility of social contagion on ratings allocation also remains an unexamined factor. The possibility that community members would choose to read and then uprate or downrate comments based on a comment's displayed current rating could not be examined. It is not known whether social contagion was a factor determining whether community members chose to rate comments in response to previously allocated ratings.

New Ratings Format

The Pie Fight took place in June 2005. Since that time, many changes to the site have taken place—most notably, the comment ratings function has been simplified to allow only ratings of + and -, and only Trusted Users may use the -. Thus, the current research cannot adequately be replicated to determine whether or not the community as a whole has maintained its deliberative orientation, or if the viewpoints of community members have become more uniform over time. Because the ratings system is now a brute measure rather than a continuum, the valuation distinctions which were surfaced regarding different types of comments can no longer be made.

Identity and Authenticity

One issue that this research did not anticipate, and which has become increasingly noted in political blogs during the 2008 election, is the presence or participation of people who express opinions which are in fact not their own. The practice, which originated in the Nixon era and has a uniquely crude name, is much more likely to occur online than in any other place. The anonymity and concurrent benefits that it provides in online communication is the perfect foil for behavior of this type. While such sock-puppeting is something that is called out on the Daily Kos and other sites when it is discovered, this type of duplicity is something that bears further attention and study. The Obama campaign reputedly had hired (or sought volunteer) bloggers to participate in comments sections in political weblogs, to debunk inaccurate comments or smears (stopthesmears.com); although they may have posted opinions with which they agreed, it is unknown whether or not bloggers who participated disclosed their affiliation with the campaign. More to the point, such tactics also provide a roadmap to those who would wish to counter such messages.

There is an assumption that everyone who is online is an honest actor, and regrettably, as in face to face communication, this is not always the case. As more campaigns move online, and as political weblogs grow in number, the risk is that people will pose as actors in the community when really what they are doing is trolling, but in a more sophisticated way – to have an effect on the offline conversations of the community members. Conversion narratives (such as when a

current or former member of Party X writes strongly in favor of a Candidate from Party Y) involve their author taking a dramatic or provocative or manipulative stance so as to make the eventual "conversion" in favor of a candidate or an issue that much more powerful. Because there is no way of knowing whether or not anything written online is the work of an honest actor, all research concerning anonymous deliberative communication on the Internet needs to include this factor as a limitation.

CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION

This study found that community-controlled comment moderation, when designed well, provides an important tool to facilitate deliberation during a time of highly-felt conflict within the community. Given previous concerns that the Social Identity/Deindividuation (SIDE) effects of computer-mediated communication could be more likely to create in- and out-groups within online communities, online political communities were seen to be at risk of takeover by members who are not as open to the expression of opposing viewpoints. This limited their usefulness as sites where deliberation might take place.

It is true that not everyone is comfortable or skilled in expressing reasoned disagreement, but that doesn't mean they shouldn't be allowed the opportunity to develop those skills. Exposure to moderated discussion can help less-skilled discussants to learn the protocols of deliberation and eventually participate more competently in such conversations. Paradoxically, a politically deliberative community needs to provide its members with low impact means of expressing dissent, which have a low threshold of commitment or risk. This research demonstrates that a moderation system based on comment ratings provides online communities an important tool, not only for measuring the type of communication that the community prefers, but also for moderating the commentary that occurs on the site.

This research sought to determine whether or not online political discussion groups could be appropriate venues in which deliberation could occur, thus paving the way for online deliberative democratic participation. Cass Sunstein (2001) and Richard Davis (1999) both expressed skepticism. Sunstein (2001) believed that these groups would be merely echo chambers where people only went to hear others like themselves. Davis (1999) expressed concerns that participants in online communities would be driven away by the unwelcoming argumentation, and even abuse, which took place within them.

This study indicates that neither of these dire predictions is true in at least one online community at the time of the research. While we can't know how these results are reflected by what is happening in the community now, the findings indicate that, at the time of the Pie Fight, the Daily Kos community was in fact a place where reasoned deliberation of disagreement could occur. There was neither an echo chamber effect where dissenting viewpoints were quelled in favor of a unifying narrative, nor was there a free-for-all atmosphere where bullying or emotionally overwrought language was tolerated by community members. While there was indeed a community promotion aspect present, it had less to do with a uniformity of views and more to do with civil discussion mores and the appropriate expression of differing viewpoints. There was less tolerance for off-topic and interpersonal conversation than was hypothesized, but only as far as positive rating of such commentary was concerned.

Specifically, this research found that not only is the Daily Kos an active online discussion group, it is a deliberative group as well. At the time of this research, or at least within the case studied, the community demonstrably responded affirmatively to communication that expressed disagreement with the previous comment, rather than valuing only communication that agreed with the previous comments. Rating allocations indicate that this group was more likely to promote discussion about difference of opinion than agreement. These discussions and disagreements were marked by the civility which was rewarded therein. The communications which received low ratings are those that contain a negative emotional component, such as anger or sarcasm. In the absence of negative emotional tone or off-color humor, profanity was not frequently sanctioned.

Agreement within conversation is not what gets rewarded, but comments that discuss civil behavior within the community (either as something that is missed, or something to be aspired to) are rewarded. The Daily Kos remains an active community, not without its differences of opinion, which has an awareness and appreciation of itself as a deliberative collective. The community has group mores, values and seeks to protect the site as a place where civil discussion can occur, and sees it also as a place that does have a reputation to worth protecting.

Deliberation

H1: The community will use the rating system to support a diverse discussion of views within comments threads.

The exploration of the relationship between comments which received a high number of positive member ratings, and the type of thread they were in yielded an encouraging result. The overwhelming majority of threads within the dataset contained a negative agreement factor instead of a positive agreement factor, indicating there was demonstrated diversity of viewpoints within comments threads. Regardless of the average thread rating, a thread was much more likely to contain commenters that disagree than agree, and those threads with the highest percentage of disagreement also contained the highest number of positive comment ratings, indicating support of deliberation of a diversity of views.

Although this was not explicitly predicted during the initial proposal period, these findings do correspond with more recent research on this community. Specifically, Soma (2007) found that, in spite of the purpose of comment ratings as designed to promote a certain type of well-reasoned comment, what actually seemed to occur was the use of a rating of a comment to indicate agreement. Rather than promulgate a string of "me too" comments in the face of a well-stated comment, community members were more likely to give a rating (of 4) to those comments with which they agreed, which were also "well-stated," while at the same time seeming to ignore (vis-à-vis ratings) or else responding directly to comments with which they

disagreed. Given the paucity of comments which received an average rating of less than 4 (8% of the entire dataset), it appears that community members chose to create a responding comment expressing their disagreement rather than use a low rating to express their disagreement. The result is an increase in new ideas being introduced to the conversation, resulting in more deliberation rather than the creation of an echo chamber.

Negative Communication

H2: The community will use the rating system to punish or diminish specific types of comments that hinder deliberation.

As predicted, comments in which negative modes of expression are used were more likely to receive a higher number of low/punitive ratings—these comments were deemed either marginal or unproductive to the service of good communication within the community. Regardless of content, disagreeably related commentary was more frequently given a negative rating than comments which indicated disagreement with previously expressed ideas or viewpoints. However, comments coded as being conveyed with a negative emotional tone were also more frequently given 3 ratings than any other type of comment in the dataset (that had a substantive number of comments). This could be due to the type of in-group communication that sometimes occurs within online communities, where what looks like verbal aggressiveness to one segment of the group can be understood by another as a strategy of "benign conflict" designed to increase community cohesion via faux or mock aggression or sarcasm (Serfaty 2002).

Deliberative and Pro-Group communication

H3: The community will use the rating system to applaud or support specific types of comments that support conditions of deliberation.

For the most part, the hypothesized pro-group comments did receive a higher percentage of high ratings than the remainder of the dataset, as measured by the baseline ratings. Of special note was the extremely high percentage for comments that expressed dismay or concern about the tone of the discussion (the negative metacommunication coded comments) or about the effect of the Pie Fight or the ad on the reputation of the Daily Kos in the wider world.

Surprisingly, there were instances where comments received ratings at above the baseline in both high and low categories, comments containing profanity providing the most dramatic example. This is likely due to the fact that profanity is always an attention-getter, but likewise can be explained by the use of low ratings to punish crudeness and puerile commentary, as well as the use of high ratings to promote comments that used profanity to emphasize their point within communications which may have been written by emotional or deeply affected authors who were writing comments that also contained a pro-group orientation. A ratings-split behavior, where ratings of 4 seemed to be giving to mitigate the adverse effects of a concurrent low rating of 1 within the same comment, was also noted.

Future Research

The present research suggests two avenues of future research: one maintaining focus on the Daily Kos Pie Fight and its participants, and the other broadening the scope to look at Daily Kos or other online political discussion groups who have since employed a rating/moderation function.

Further Study: Daily Kos Pie Fight Dataset

Future research on the present dataset could allow for a more precise view of how ratings were allocated in a multivariate analysis. For example, evaluating the ratings that were given to the subset of comments coded as disagreeing with Markos, discussing the community as an entity, and calling out negative metacommunication could allow for a more targeted understanding of how ratings are used for a narrower range of comments.

A longitudinal analysis of participation by those community members whose comments were negatively rated would be of interest to measure the regulatory effects of the ratings system. If those members remained active, is there evidence that they learned from the ratings their comments received, and are now positively contributing members, or are they still participating in ways that garner only negative attention? If they decided to leave the community, do they consider their departure as the result of the ratings their comments received, or due to other factors? Do any of the members who chose to depart continue to read Daily Kos, are they still participating in other online political communities, or have they opted out of participating in such discussions altogether?

Regarding the content of communication: Of those people whose comments were coded with disagreement or negative emotional tone codes, or who chose to respond or explain their viewpoints in the face of explicit disagreement, how many remained active in the community one year later? What are the statistics for those members whose comments were coded with agreement, positive metacommunication about the community's purpose, positive emotional tone, or humor codes?

An inductive content analysis of comments would enable several other questions to be asked, and additional studies to be undertaken. Of those members who were so angered or distressed by the Pie Fight or the communication about it, regardless of the ratings their comments received, how many chose to leave the community, why did they choose to do so, and where did they end up? Have any of them returned to Daily Kos, and if so, why? Finally, how many people chose to stay in spite of their disagreement with Markos or other community members, and why did they choose to do so?

With regard to ratings efficacy, an inductive content analysis of those comments which were coded as negative or not adding to the conversation would add to the understanding of which types of comments make it past the Trusted Member filter. Assuming that access to zero-rated comments could be procured, this could also measure the efficacy of the hidden comments convention. If any of the comments

which remained visible had ever received a rating of zero, then at least one additional Trusted Member rated that comment so that it could be seen. An analysis of those comments, and a survey of the trusted members in question, could give insight to the means by which the trusted members seek to regulate the community commentary.

Lastly, an evaluation of member behavior, correlating the types of comments that each member rated with the member's own position on the Pie Fight, could give an indication of whether or not individuals were in fact using ratings to promote deliberation versus merely supporting comments that mirrored their own point of view. In the case where members only rated comments but did not comment themselves, surveying them to determine whether or not they were rating comments that articulated points of view which they chose not to advance themselves, and if so, why that choice was made, would provide additional insight into how these "lurkers" chose to use comment ratings.

Further Study: Daily Kos Community

Change of the site moderation system versus evolution of the site: This research describes an earlier point in the lifecycle of the group, not only chronologically, but also with a different moderation scheme than the one currently employed. It is possible that at some point in their lifecycle, groups turn into echo chambers of opinion before cycling away again. Alternately, the change in the moderation system may have contributed to an alteration of the group itself.
In my previous research on the community (Soma 2007), people who disagreed with Markos or others in the community about the Pie Fight were asked, or in some cases told, to leave the site, though there was no record of how many actually did so. More recently, the widely publicized departure of "pro-Hillary Clinton Bloggers" which occurred during the 2008 Presidential Primary (Wheaton 2008), would seem to indicate that the appreciation of disparate viewpoints on the site has diminished. It may be that the modification of the ratings system in 2006 has removed an important tool for participation for those people who might not feel comfortable or even able to sanction disagreeable or sexist commentary, by requiring them to write a response to express exactly why a comment is disagreeable to them. The removal of a previously useful tool to moderate the discussion in the community may have affected the community's deliberative identity more substantially and adversely than numerical measures of community membership or thread depth suggest. The new requirement that a member gain Mojo before they can downrate a comment may have raised the bar on who is actually given a voice in the moderation of commentary, which could have broadened the range of uncivil communications that go unchallenged.

I would like to use the same coding scheme to evaluate comments on the current Daily Kos site. Now that the moderation scheme has been changed from the 0-4 ratings to +s and -s, I would be interested in seeing whether or not there is a difference in comment rating frequency correlated with the percentage of comments that agree versus disagree with the previous comment. As well, I would be interested

131

in evaluating the community measurements in conjunction with the number (and percentage) of positive ratings those comments get relative to other comments in a discussion thread.

Further Study: Spiral of Silence

Earlier research predicted that online communities would be less affected by the Spiral of Silence, due to anonymity providing the cover necessary to promote an unpopular view (McDevitt, Kiousis, and Wahl-Jorgensen 2003). I would be interested to examine whether or not a member's longevity in a community increases or decreases their willingness to take an unpopular stance within the community. Does an online persona eventually become a personal identity that is worth protecting? Additionally, as online communities grow and change, the possibility that members might choose to meet face-to-face increases as well. What might be the impacts of these offline meetings on a members' online participation in the community? Does the experience of one's online community in an offline space change an individual's willingness to espouse unpopular views?

People who are conflict avoidant are less likely to express a strong interest in political affairs (Ulbig and Funk 1999). Computer-mediated communication may be able to limit the adverse effects of conflict by depersonalizing the sting of disapproval, allowing users to focus on the message instead of the person sending or receiving it, and using moderation to reduce the burden on people who would like to express disapproval. Given the ability of computer-mediated communications to support

132

deliberation, as this research shows, could moderated computer-mediated communication provide enough protection for the conflict-avoidant to consider increasing their political participation, either as informed citizens or as voters?

Further Study: Moderation Schemes

Regarding comment moderation itself, comparing the member experience of multi-labeled moderation (such as that used in Slashdot) with a purely numerical moderation scheme could help determine which would be more useful for deliberation. Specifically, do labels influence the moderation that occurs, and if so, in what way? Do people react more strongly to numbers than to labels, and in which case do people receiving lower ratings feel the need to defend their comment versus restating it to make their own intention clearer? What type of moderation is more likely to cause members who have written comments that get down-rated respond positively and productively, instead of negatively?

Conclusion

The present research indicates that a community comment moderation system can be used to support the conditions of deliberation in an online community. As people become more habituated to the requirements for clear communication within CMC, it is likely that the Internet can be more successfully used as a legitimate venue for political deliberation, either formally under the auspices of local, state, or national governments, or informally, via online communities such as the one under study. Of course, no matter where the communication occurs, the neutrality and good faith of the

133

moderators, and the discussants, is the most important factor that will determine whether a truly deliberative conversation is going to occur. This research shows that providing community members with the tools to moderate the conversation as it occurs offers an effective means of supporting community-wide deliberation, and indicates that real-time comment moderation can be successfully used to allow a broad range of views to be deliberated.

REFERENCES

- Ackerman, Bruce and James S. Fishkin. 2004. *Deliberation Day*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Barber, Benjamin R. 1984. *Strong Democracy: Participatory Politics for a New Age*. Berkeley and Los Angeles, CA: University of California Press.
- Bargh, John A., Katelyn Y. A. McKenna, and Grainne M. Fitzsimons. 2002. "Can You See the Real Me? Activation and Expression of the "True Self" on the Internet." *Journal of Social Issues* 58:33-48.
- Beauchot, Alberto and Mark Buellen. 2005. "Interaction and Interpersonality in Online Discussion Forums." *Distance Education* 26:65-85.
- Bellini, Carlo Gabriel Porto and Lilia Maria Vargas. 2003. "Rationale for Internet-Mediated Communities." *CyberPsychology and Behavior* 6:3-14.
- Blood, Rebecca. 2002. "Weblogs: A History and Perspective." Pp. 7-16 in *We've Got Blog: How Weblogs are Changing Our Culture*, edited by J. Rodzvilla. Cambridge, MA: Perseus Publishing.
- Boase, Jeffrey, John B. Horrigan, Barry Wellman, and Lee Rainie. 2006. "The Strength of Internet Ties: The Internet and Email Aid Users in Maintaining Their Social Networks and Provide Pathways to Help When People Face Big Decisions " Pew Internet & American Life Project, Washington, DC.
- Burkhalter, Stephanie, John Gastil, and Todd Kelshaw. 2002. "A Conceptual Definition and Theoretical Model of Public Deliberation in Small Face-to-Face Groups." *Communication Theory* 12:398-422.
- Cassell, Justine and Dona Tversky. 2005. "The Language of Online Intercultural Community Formation." *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 10: article 2.
- Chadwick, Andrew. 2006. Internet Politics: States, Citizens, and New Communication Technologies. New York, NY: Oxford University Press
- CmdrTaco. 2003, "Slashdot FAQ Comments and Moderation", Retrieved March 6, 2006 (http://slashdot.org/faq/com-mod.shtml).
- Cole, Jeffrey, Michael Suman, Phoebe Schramm, Robert Lunn, and Jedrix-Sean Aquino. 2003. "The UCLA Internet Report--Surveying the Digital Future." UCLA Center for Communication Policy, Los Angeles, CA.
- Dahlberg, Lincoln. 2001a. "Extending the Public Sphere through Cyberspace: The Case of Minnesota E-democracy." *First Monday* 6.

- —. 2001b. "The Internet and Democratic Discourse: Exploring the Prospects of Online Deliberative Forums Extending the Public Sphere." *Information Communication and Society* 4:615-633.
- Davis, Richard. 1999. The Web of Politics: the Internet's Impact on the American Political System. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- dKosepedia. 2006, "Important Guests at the Daily Kos", Retrieved March 6, 2006, 2006

 $(http://www.dkosopedia.com/index.php/Important_guests_at_the_Daily_Kos,).$

- Dolan, Paul, Richard Cookson, and Brian Ferguson. 1999. "Effect of Discussion and Deliberation on the Publics Views of Priority Setting in Health Care: Focus Group Study " *British Medical Journal*:916-919.
- Dorado, Miguel A., Francisco J. Medina, Lourdes Munduate, Immaculada F. J. Cisneros, and Martin Euwema. 2002. "Computer-Mediated Negotiation of an Escalated Conflict." *Small Group Research* 33:509-524.
- Enslin, Penny, Shirley Pendlebury, and Mary Tjiattas. 2001. "Deliberative Democracy, Diversity and the Challenges of Citizenship Education." *Journal of Philosophy of Education* 35:115-130.
- Etzioni, Amitai. 1997. "Communities: Virtual vs. Real." Science 277:295.
- Etzioni, Amitai and Oren Etzioni. 1999. "Face-to-Face and Computer-Mediated Communities, A comparative Analysis." *The Information Society* 15:241-248.
- Fallows, Deborah. 2004. "The Internet and Daily Life." Pew Internet & American Life Project Washington, DC.
- Fishkin, James S. 1999. *Democracy and Deliberation: New Directions for Democratic Reform*. New Haven, CT Yale University Press.
- —. 2000. "Virtual Democratic Possibilities: Prospects for Internet Democracy." in *Internet, Democracy and Public Goods.* Brazil.
- Future, Center for the Digital. 2005. "Year Four of the Digital Future Project." USC Annenberg School Los Angeles, CA
- Garrett, R. Kelly. 2006. "Seeking Similarity, Not Avoiding Difference: Reframing the Selective Exposure Debate." in *56th Annual Conference of the International Communication Association*. Dresden, Germany.
- Gastil, John. 2000a. By Popular Demand: Revitalizing Representative Democracy through Deliberative Elections. Berkeley and Los Angeles, CA: University of California Press.

- 2000b. "Is Face-to-Face Citizen Deliberation a Luxury or a Necessity for Democracy? ." in Workshop in Communication and Civic Engagement Seattle, WA: University of Washington
- Grossman, Lev 2006. "The People's Network." Time, November 13, 2006, pp. 61-65.
- Gutmann, Amy and Dennis Thompson. 1996. *Democracy and Disagreement*. Cambridge, MA: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- . 2004. Why Deliberative Democracy? Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press
- Halavais, Alexander M. Campbell. 2001. "The Slashdot Effect: Analysis of a Large-Scale Public Conversation on the World Wide Web." University of Washington Seattle.
- Haughey, Matt. 2002. "Building an online community: Just add water." Pp. 201-208 in *We've got blog: How weblogs are changing our culture*, edited by J. Rodzvilla. Cambridge, MA: Perseus Publishing.
- Hebert, Brenda G. and Jacquie D. Vorauer. 2003. "Seeing Through the Screen: Is Evaluative Feedback Communicated More Effectively in Face-to-Face or Computer-Mediated Exchanges?" *Computers in Human Behavior* 19:25-38.
- Herring, Susan. 2008. "Perversely Conversational: Convergent Media Computer-Mediated Communication." Seattle, WA University of Washington.
- Herring, Susan, Kirk Job-Sluder, Rebecca Scheckler, and Sasha Barab. 2002."Searching for Safety Online: Managing "Trolling" in a Feminist Forum." *The Information Society* 18:371-384.
- Hill, Kevin A. and John E. Hughes. 1997. "Computer-Mediated Political Communication: The Usenet and Political Communities." *Political Communication* 14:3-27.
- Hurrell, Christie. 2005. "Shaping Policy Discourse in the Public Sphere: Evaluating Civil Speech in an Online Consultation." *Electronic Journal of e-Government* 3:67-76.
- jotter. 2005a, "Daily Kos: Front Page Impact, June 4-10 2005", Retrieved July 28, 2008 (http://www.dailykos.com/storyonly/2005/6/12/151424/583).
- —. 2005b, "Daily Kos: Week's High Impact Diaries for June 4-10, 2005", Retrieved July 28, 2008 (http://www.dailykos.com/storyonly/2005/6/12/114457/354).
- Kelly, John W., Danyel Fisher, and Marc Smith. 2005. "Debate, Division, and Diversity: Political Discourse Networks in USENET Newsgroups." in Second Conference on Online Deliberation: Design, Research, and Practice / DIAC 2005. Stanford University: Palo Alto, CA.

- —. 2006. "Friends, Foes, and Fringe: Norms and Structure in Political Discussion Networks." Pp. 412-417 in 2006 International Conference on Digital Government Research, vol. 151. San Diego, CA ACM International Conference Proceeding Series.
- Kollock, Peter. 1999. "The Economies of Online Cooperation: Gifts and Public Goods in Cyberspace." Pp. 220-239 in *Communities in Cyberspace*, edited by M. A. Smith and P. Kollock. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Kollock, Peter and Marc Smith. 1996. "Managing the Virtual Commons: Cooperation and Conflict in Computer Communities." Pp. 109-128 in *Computer Mediated Communication: Linguistic, Social, and Cross-Cultural Perspectives*, edited by S. Herring. Amsterdam: John Benjamins
- Lampe, Cliff and Erik Johnson. 2005. "Follow the (Slash) Dot: Effects of Feedback on New Members in an Online Community." Pp. 11-20 in *Conference on* Supporting Group Work Proceedings of the 2005 International ACM SIGGROUP conference on Supporting Group Work Sanibel Island, Florida: ACM.
- Lampe, Cliff and Paul Resnick. 2004. "Slash(dot) and Burn: Distributed Moderation in a Large Online Conversation Space." *CHI Letters* 6:543-550.
- Lampe, Clifford A. 2006. "Ratings Use in an Online Discussion System: The Slashdot Case." Information, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI.
- Lampe, Clifford Arthur Cochise. 2005. "Talking Politics on the Side: Political Conversation on Slashdot." in *Online Deliberation 2005 - DIAC - 2005* Stanford University
- Lemus, Daisy R., David R. Seibold, Andrew J. Flanagin, and Miriam J. Metzger. 2004. "Argument and Decision Making in Computer-Mediated Groups." *Journal of Communication* June
- Lopez, Mark Hugo, Peter Levine, Deborah Both, Abby Kiesa, Emily Kirby, and Karlo Marcelo. 2006. "The 2006 Civic and Political Health of the Nation: A Detailed Look at How Youth Participate in Politics and Communities." CIRCLE Center for Information and Research on Civic Learning and Engagement, Washington, DC.
- Madden, Mary and Susannah Fox. 2006. "Riding the Waves of "Web 2.0"." Pew Internet and American Life Project Washington, DC.
- Margolis, Michael and David Resnick. 2000. *Politics as Usual: The Cyberspace* "*Revolution*". Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- McDevitt, Michael, Spiro Kiousis, and Karin Wahl-Jorgensen. 2003. "Spiral of Moderation: Opinion Expression in Computer-Mediated Discussion." *International Journal of Public Opinion Research* 15:454-470.

- McKenna, Katelyn Y. A., Amie S. Green, and Marci E.J. Gleason. 2002. "Relationship Formation on the Internet: What's the Big Attraction? ." *Journal* of Social Issues 58:9-31.
- Min, Seong-Jae. 2007. "Online vs. Face-to-Face Deliberation: Effects on Civic Engagement " *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 12: Article 11.
- Neuendorf, Kimberly A. 2002. *The Content Analysis Guidebook*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Nonnecke, Blair and Jenny Preece. 2000. "Lurker Demographics: Counting the Silent." *CHI Letters* 2:73-80.
- Papacharissi, Zizi. 2004. "Democracy Online: Civility, Politeness, and the Democratic Potential of Online Political Discussion Groups." *New Media & Society* 6:259-283.
- Perseus. 2003, "The Blogging Iceberg Of 4.12 Million Hosted Weblogs, Most Little Seen, Quickly Abandoned", Retrieved December 11, 2003 (http://www.perseus.com/blogsurvey/thebloggingiceberg.html).
- Powazek, Derek M. 2002. "Design for Community: the Art of Connecting Real People in Virtual Places." Indianapolis, IN: New Riders.
- Preece, Jenny. 2001. "Sociability and Usability in Online Communities: Determining and Measuring Success." *Behaviour & Information Technology* 20:347-356.
- Price, Vincent. 2006. "Citizens Deliberating Online: Theory and Some Evidence." in *Online Deliberation: Design, Research, and Practice*. Stanford, CA CSLI Publications.
- Price, Vincent and Joseph N. Cappella. 2002. "Online Deliberation and Its Influence: the Electronic Dialogue Project in Campaign 2000." *IT & Society* 1:303-329.
- Price, Vincent, Joseph N. Cappella, and Lilach Nir. 2002. "Does Disagreement Contribute to More Deliberative Opinion?" *Political Communication* 19:95-112.
- Price, Vincent and Clarissa David. 2005. "Talking about Elections: A Study of Patterns in Citizen Deliberation Online." in *International communication Association annual meeting*. New York.
- Putnam, Robert D. 2000. *Bowling Alone, the Collapse and Revival of American Community*. New York, NY: Simon & Schuster.
- Rafaeli, Sheizaf and Fay Sudweeks. 1997. "Networked Interactivity." in *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, vol. 2.
- Rainie, Lee. 2005. "The State of Blogging." Pew Research Center: Pew Internet and American Life Project.

- Reid, Elizabeth. 1999. "Hierarchy and Power: Social Control in Cyberspace." Pp. 107-133 in *Communities in Cyberspace*, edited by M. A. Smith and P. Kollock. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Rheingold, Howard. 2000. *The Virtual Community: Homesteading on the Electronic Frontier*, vol. 2003. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Riva, Giuseppe. 2002. "Sociocognitive Psychology of Computer-Mediated Communication: The Present and Future of Technology-Based Interactions." *CyberPsychology and Behavior* 5:581-598.
- Rourke, Liam, Terry Anderson, D.R. Garrison, and Walter Archer. 2000. "Methodological Issues in the Content Analysis of Computer Conference Transcripts." *International Journal of Artificial Intelligence in Education* 11.
- Sack, Warren, John Kelly, and Michael Dale. 2005. "Searching the Net for Differences of Opinion." in Second Conference on Online Deliberation: Design, Research, and Practice / DIAC 2005. Stanford University: Palo Alto, California.
- Sanderson, David. 1997. Smileys. Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly Media, Inc.
- Scott, James K. and Thomas G. Johnson. 2005. "Bowling Alone but Online Together: Social Capital in E-Communities." *Community Development: Journal of the Community Development Society* 36:1-18.
- Serfaty, Viviane. 2002. "Forms and functions of conflict in online communities." *Cercles* 5:183-197.
- Shea, Virginia. 1994. Netiquette. San Francisco, CA Albion Books.
- Sitemeter. 2006, "Counter and Statistics Tracker for the Daily Kos", Retrieved March 6, 2006 (http://www.sitemeter.com/?a=stats&s=sm8dailykos&r=0).
- Smith, Aaron and Lee Rainie. 2008. "The Internet and the 2008 Election." Pew Internet & American Life Project, Washington, DC.
- Smith, Marc A. 1999. "Invisible Crowds in Cyberspace: Mapping the Social Structure of the Usenet." Pp. 195-219 in *Communities in Cyberspace*, edited by M. A. Smith and P. Kollock. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Soj, dKos Author. 2006, "Soj's Old Tyme FAQ and Jamboree", Retrieved March 6, 2006 (http://www.dkosopedia.com/index.php/DKOS_community_norms#Soj's_Old _Tyme_FAQ_and_Jamboree).
- Soma, Samantha I. 2007. "An Examination of Conflict Conversation in an Online Community : the Pie Fight at Dailykos.com." Conflict Resolution Portland State University, Portland, OR.

- Spears, Russel and Martin Lea. 1994. "Panacea or panopticon? The hidden power in computer-mediated communication." *Communication Research* 21:427-459.
- Sproull, Lee and Sara Kiesler. 1986. "Reducing Social Context Cues: Electronic Mail in Organizational Communication." *Management Science* 32:1492-1512.
- Stromer-Galley. 2003. "Diversity of Political Conversation on the Internet: Users' Perspectives." *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication* 8:1-24.
- Suler, John. 2004. "The Online Disinhibition Effect." *CyberPsychology & Behavior* 7:321-326.
- Sunstein, Cass. 2001. Republic.com. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Trix. 2008, "Super Tuesday Winner to be Decided via Pie Fight", Retrieved April 2008 (http://www.dailykos.com/story/2008/2/6/73536/14739/625/450917).
- Turkel, Sherry. 1995. *Life on the Screen: Identity in the Age of the Internet*. New York, NY: Touchstone Books.
- Ulbig, Stacy G. and Carolyn L Funk. 1999. "Conflict Avoidance and Political Participation." *Political Behavior* 21:265-282.
- Walther, Joseph B. and Kyle P. D'Addario. 2001. "The Impacts of Emoticons on Message Interpretation in Computer-Mediated Communication." *Social Science Computer Review* 19:324-347.
- Wellman, Barry. 1997. "An Electronic Group is Virtually a Social Network." Pp. 179-205 in *Culture of the Internet*, edited by S. Kiesler. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Wheaton, Sarah. 2008, "Blogtalk: Pro-Clinton Bloggers Boycott Kos" Caucus Blog -The Politics and Government Blog of The Times Retrieved July 18, 2008, 2008 (http://thecaucus.blogs.nytimes.com/2008/03/15/blogtalk-pro-clinton-bloggerswalk-out-of-kos).
- Wikipedia. 2008, "Daily Kos", Retrieved June 9, 2008 (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Daily_Kos).
- Wilhelm, Anthony G. 1999. "Virtual Sounding Boards: How Deliberative is Online Political Discussion? ." Pp. 154-178 in *Digital Democracy: Discourse and Decision Making in the Information Age* edited by B. N. Hague and B. D. Loader. New York, NY: Routledge
- Witschge, Tamara. 2002. "Online Deliberation: Possibilities of the Internet for Deliberative Democracy." in *Prospects for Electronic Democracy*. H. J. Heinz III School of Public Policy and Management, Carnegie Mellon University.
- Wood, Andrew F. and Matthew W. Smith. 2005. *Online Communication: Linking Technology, Identity, & Culture*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Wright, Nelson, Alison Varey, and Thomas Chesney. 2005. "An Investigation of Sociability Measurements in Online Communities." *International Journal of Web Based Communities* 1:400-411.
- Wright, Scott and John Street. 2007. "Democracy, deliberation and design: the case of online discussion forums." New Media & Society 9:849-869.

APPENDIX A: CONTENT CODING MATRIX

| Variable Title | Topic Centeredness | | |
|--|--|--|--|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Is message off topic or unrelated to previous message? | | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 1 and 3 | | |
| Operationalize | Messages that receive this designation do not discuss the Pie Fight or the ad, or they otherwise move the discussion away from its earlier point. Includes Recipes, "larger issues" of sexism or gender, discussions of personal experience, jokes, etc. | | |
| Unit of Analysis | Single message | | |
| Category Descriptions and examples | SPSS value Var. on Code sheet | Operationalize | |
| On topic | 0= no selection | Message discusses the pie fight or the ad. | |
| Off topic | 1= OFFTOPIC | Messages that receive this designation do not discuss the pie fight or the ad, or they otherwise move the discussion away from its earlier point. | |
| | | Includes Recipes, "larger issues" of sexism or gender, discussions of personal experience, etc. | |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | Not applicable. | | |
| Relation to other | If message is On topic, skip to variable #2 | | |
| variables | If message is Off topic, skip to variable #3 (Agree/Disagree) | | |

| Variable Title | Position on Markos | or Ad |
|--|--|---|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | What is the stated or implied position of the commenter on the ad or Markos' response to its critics? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | This code was not used for this research, but could be used to identify comments for future research. | |
| Operationalize | These comments include some discussion of Markos or the Pie Fight Ad | |
| Unit of Analysis | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| | Var. on Code sheet | |
| Indeterminate | 0 = INDE | Indeterminate – rarely used – consider recoding if at all possible. |
| Pro-Markos | 1 = PRO | Indicates support of Markos or of his right to run the ad. |
| Anti-Markos | 2 = ANTI | Indicates disagreement with Markos, or states that ad is a negative indicator about community, or that Markos' response was rude. |
| Neutral | 3 = NEUT | Indicates that ad is "not a big deal," that community has "more important things" to discuss. Can coexist with #2, but is most frequently encountered alone. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | If multiple views held, choose predominate view (e.g. comment 226 in diary 1) 605 - "it's not about the ad" is still anti-Markos | |
| Relation to other variables | This variable was used to determine whether the comment agreed or disagreed with previous on-topic comments. | |

| Variable Title | Position on previous | post |
|--|---|--|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does the commenter agree or disagree with the previous poster's statement or viewpoint? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 1 | |
| Operationalize | Comment expresses an opinion or position about the previous comment. | |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| Agree | 1 = AGRE | Comment indicates agreement with person/content in immediately preceding post. Self-response comments are coded as agree. |
| Disagree | 2 = DISAG | Comments indicates disagreement with person/content in immediately preceding post. Questions and recipes are coded as disagree. |
| Indeterminate | 3 = INDE | Neither agreement or disagreement can be determined. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | Not applicable. | |
| Relation to other variables | This variable was used in conjunction with Position on Markos or Ad to determine whether the current comment agreed or disagreed with the previous on-topic comments. | |

| Variable Title | Reserve | |
|--|---|--|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does message request quelling of discussion or deletion of comments.? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 1 | |
| Operationalize | Commenter urges cessation of discussion as either of no value or else harmful to the community. | |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| | 0 = no selection | Variable not present in comment. |
| Reserve | 1 = RESERV | Comment includes a request to stop talking about pie fight ad/conflict or advocate deletion of comments regarding it? |
| | | Examples: Markos should not have mentioned it. Also includes "dead horse" dead cat" get over themselves. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | Not applicable. | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |

| Variable Title | Profanity | |
|--|---|--|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does message includes coarse language commonly accepted as profanity? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 2, 3 | |
| Operationalize | Comment includes language commonly accepted as profanity, slang, and associated acronyms. | |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| | 0 = no selection | Variable not present in comment. |
| Profanity Present | 1 = PROFAN | Comment includes commonly accepted profanity, slang terms for genitalia, acronyms known to denote profanity, such as WTF. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | Not applicable | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |

| Variable Title | Emotional Tone | |
|--|--|--|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | What is the emotional tone of the message? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 2 | |
| Operationalize | Message includes language specifically denoting commenter's emotional state, or is conveyed either positively or negatively as described below. | |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| Indeterminate Emotional Tone | 0 = EMOIND | Message tone is neither positive nor negative, or both equally. Factual. Can include agreement or disagreement. |
| Positive Emotional Tone | 1 = EMO+ | Message tone is positive: complimentary, calming, or agreeing, conciliatory, or contains an apology. 822 for "compliment" |
| Negative Emotional Tone | 2 = EMO- | Message tone is negative: contains angry, sarcastic, or insulting communication. Includes ALLCAPS "yelling" name calling, hyperbole, <i>ad</i> <i>hominem</i> , and obviously "bad faith" communication (I'll assume) |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | If poster says "I agree" or "I disagree" but rest of tone is neutral, then code as indeterminate. Emo+ and Emo- are the predominant emotions – but if a comment has slight references to both, or is predominantly neutral, code as Indeterminate. | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |

| Variable Title | Interpersonal | |
|--|---|--|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does message content include personal self-disclosure about author's personal experience, emotions, or offline life? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 3 | |
| Operationalize | Message includes first-person disclosure about offline life or explanation for response to Pie Fight. | |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| | 0 = no selection | Variable not present in comment. |
| Interpersonal | 1 = INTERP | Comment includes I, me, or my in reference to bulk of comment and tells a personal narrative. Message may be related to Pie Fight. |
| | | Examples: What upset me, I was aroused by it, my mother once told me, etc. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | Interpersonal does not include all mentions of I, me or my. For example, "I think X about Y," is not coded as Interpersonal, but "When I experienced X" is coded as Interpersonal. | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |

| Variable Title | Community as Entity | |
|----------------------------------|--|---|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does message contain use of first-person plural pronouns ("us", "we") about the group? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 3 | |
| Operationalize | Message includes di | scussion about the community itself. |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| | 0 = no selection | Variable not present in comment. |
| We / Us | 1 = WE/US | Comment includes information about the current and past configuration of the group, as well as predictions of the future of the group. |
| Decision rule when more than one | Comments that talk about "our party" but not Daily Kos are not coded as WE/US. | |
| category fits | Comments about improving site are WE/US. Also includes talk about community being worth more than the present brouhaha, imprecations to specific users to "stick around", that the community is bigger than Markos, or better than one person. Comments referring to change in the community (such as "jumping the shark") are also coded as WE/US. | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |

| Variable Title | Humor | |
|--|--|---|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does message conta | ain attempts at humor? |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 3 | |
| Operationalize | Comment contains w acronym LOL, smiley | vordplay, teasing, puns on pie, the vs, or is designed to lighten the mood. |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| No humor in comment | 0 = no selection | Variable not present in comment. |
| Humor | 1 = HUMOR | Comment contains wordplay, teasing, puns on pie, the acronym LOL, smileys, or is obviously designed to lighten the mood. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | Humor in conjunction with EMO- denotes sarcasm or snark. Humor in conjunction with EMO+ denotes friendly teasing. Humor may be only a couple of lines in a long post, and may be in an off topic post; if it exists at all, code comment as HUMOR. | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |
| | | |

| Variable Title | Metacommunication | |
|--|--|---|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does message contain meta communication about the talk in the diary or community? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 3 | |
| Operationalize | Comment references behavior of community members, as member of the community. Talk in comments, comment content. Discussion of others – not "you" or "me." | |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| No discussion of metacommunication in comment | 0 = no selection | Variable not present in comment. |
| Positive Metacommunication | 1 = META+ | Compliments or praise for conversation in Pie Fight, or about Markos' comments. |
| Negative Metacommunication | 2 = META- | Complaints about conversation in Pie Fight, or about Markos' comments. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | A discussion of the group communication behavior within diary or comments is this category. Also includes "quoting" of previous words used to back up a behavior claim, but not general conversational quoting. | |
| | META comments are about the tone of the discussion in general, rather than comments to a person about their comment. Comments directed to Markos about his diary are coded as META. | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |

| Variable Title | Group Reputation | |
|--|---|---|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does message contain discussion about how the group is behaving, or will be represented? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 3 | |
| Operationalize | Comment references the group reputation, includes indication of "famous visitors" or candidates, discussion of external interpretation of group behavior, or references a media source referring to Daily Kos. | |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| No discussion of Group Reputation | 0 = no selection | Variable not present in comment. |
| Positive Group Reputation | 1 = GROUP+ | Comment discusses the reputation of the group as something that is valuable, worthy of being protected, esteemed or otherwise representative of Progressives. |
| Negative Group Reputation | 2 = GROUP- | Comment discusses the reputation of the group as something that has been tarnished or diminished by either the Pie Fight ad or the discussions about it. References community being "laughed at" or derisively talked about. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | Not applicable. | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |

| Variable Title | Ratings Discussion | |
|--|---|--|
| Content Analysis Descriptor | Does message reference ratings (either giving or receiving a rating)? | |
| Relation to Hypothesis | 3 | |
| Operationalize | Can also include the | number four in subject line. |
| Category Descriptions | SPSS value | Operationalize |
| and examples | Var. on Code sheet | |
| No discussion of Rating | 0 = no selection | Variable not present in comment. |
| Positive Rating | 1 = RATING+ | Comment includes reference to giving a high rating to a different comment or author, or an expression of thanks for the receipt of a high rating. |
| Negative Rating | 2 = RATING- | Comment includes complaint about a low rating received by the author, or given to a different author. |
| Decision rule when more than one category fits | If comment expressly mentions giving a high rating to offset a low rating, code as RATING- because it is a complaint about the rating system. | |
| Relation to other variables | Independent | |

APPENDIX B: MACHINE CODES

| Code Type | Visible during Coding | Code Purpose |
|---|-----------------------------|---|
| Comment Date | Yes | Used to temporally locate comment in context of discussion |
| Comment Depth in Thread | Yes | Used to locate comment for coding display and later analysis |
| Comment Number in Diary | Yes | Used to locate comment for coding display and later analysis |
| Comment Number in Thread | Yes | Used to locate comment for coding display and later analysis |
| Comment Time | Yes | Temporally locate comment in context of discussion |
| Parent Comment Number | Yes | Used to contextualize comment content and locate comment for later analysis |
| Author # of ratings in Diary | No | Used to measure author's participation, for interactivity measurements (not used) |
| Author # of ratings in thread | No | Used to measure author's participation, for interactivity measurements (not used) |
| Author ID Number | No | Attached automatically from website – identifies author's seniority in community (not used) |
| Author Number of comments in Diary | No | Used to measure author's participation, for interactivity measurements (not used) |
| Author Number of comments in Thread | No | Used to measure author's participation, for interactivity measurements (not used) |
| Average Rating Value | No | Attached automatically from website, not used in research |
| Number of Ratings | No | Used to measure comment's popularity, for interactivity measurements (not used) |
| Value of Ratings | No | Used in conjunction with hand codes for statistical analysis |

APPENDIX C: CORPUS CODING STATISTICS

| | | Comments | | Ratings of 1 | | | Ratings of 2 | | |
|--------------------|---------------|---------------|------------|--------------|------|---------|--------------|-------|---------|
| | | matching code | | C | | | - | | |
| | | # | % of total | # | per | vs. all | # | per | vs. all |
| All comments | | 1459 | 100.00% | 452 | 0.31 | | 157 | 0.11 | |
| OFFTOP | no (0) | 814 | 55.79% | 254 | 0.31 | 1.00 | 101 | 0.12 | 1.12 |
| | yes (1) | 645 | 44.21% | 198 | 0.31 | 1.00 | 56 | 0.09 | 0.84 |
| MARKOS | none (0) | 633 | 43.39% | 196 | 0.31 | 1.00 | 51 | 0.08 | 0.74 |
| | anti (1) | 333 | 22.82% | 115 | 0.35 | 1.13 | 72 | 0.22 | 2.04 |
| | pro (2) | 189 | 12.95% | 94 | 0.50 | 1.61 | 26 | 0.14 | 1.30 |
| | neut (3) | 170 | 11.65% | 29 | 0.17 | 0.55 | 8 | 0.05 | 0.46 |
| | inde (4) | 134 | 9.18% | 18 | 0.13 | 0.42 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| AGREE | agree (1) | 473 | 32.42% | 139 | 0.29 | 0.94 | 34 | 0.07 | 0.65 |
| | disagree (2) | 784 | 53.74% | 265 | 0.34 | 1.10 | 105 | 0.13 | 1.21 |
| | indete (3) | 202 | 13.85% | 48 | 0.24 | 0.77 | 18 | 0.09 | 0.84 |
| RESERV | no (0) | 1428 | 97.88% | 445 | 0.31 | 1.00 | 156 | 0.11 | 1.02 |
| | yes (1) | 31 | 2.12% | 7 | 0.23 | 0.74 | 1 | 0.03 | 0.28 |
| PROFAN | no (0) | 1244 | 85.26% | 330 | 0.27 | 0.87 | 117 | 0.09 | 0.84 |
| | yes (1) | 215 | 14.74% | 122 | 0.57 | 1.84 | 40 | 0.19 | 1.77 |
| EMOTONE | positive (1) | 312 | 21.38% | 44 | 0.14 | 0.45 | 8 | 0.03 | 0.28 |
| | negative (2) | 332 | 22.76% | 277 | 0.83 | 2.68 | 93 | 0.28 | 2.60 |
| | indete (3) | 815 | 55.86% | 131 | 0.16 | 0.52 | 56 | 0.07 | 0.65 |
| INTERP | no (0) | 1350 | 92.53% | 437 | 0.32 | 1.03 | 153 | 0.11 | 1.02 |
| | yes (1) | 109 | 7.47% | 15 | 0.14 | 0.45 | 4 | 0.04 | 0.37 |
| WE/US | no (0) | 1273 | 87.25% | 428 | 0.34 | 1.10 | 145 | 0.11 | 1.02 |
| | yes (1) | 186 | 12.75% | 24 | 0.13 | 0.42 | 12 | 0.06 | 0.56 |
| HUMOR | no (0) | 1250 | 85.68% | 352 | 0.28 | 0.90 | 140 | 0.11 | 1.02 |
| | yes (1) | 209 | 14.32% | 100 | 0.48 | 1.55 | 17 | 0.08 | 0.74 |
| METACOM | no value (0) | 1134 | 77.72% | 353 | 0.31 | 1.00 | 111 | 0.10 | 0.93 |
| | M_pos (1) | 28 | 1.92% | 11 | 0.39 | 1.26 | 1 | 0.04 | 0.37 |
| | M_neg (2) | 297 | 20.36% | 88 | 0.30 | 0.97 | 45 | 0.15 | 1.39 |
| GROUP | no value (0) | 1428 | 97.88% | 445 | 0.31 | 1.00 | 147 | 0.10 | 0.93 |
| | G_pos (1) | 5 | 0.34% | 0 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | G_neg (2) | 26 | 1.78% | 7 | 0.27 | 0.87 | 10 | 0.38 | 3.53 |
| RATING | no value (0) | 1367 | 93.69% | 412 | 0.30 | 0.97 | 147 | 0.11 | 1.02 |
| | R_pos (1) | 38 | 2.60% | 13 | 0.34 | 1.10 | 5 | 0.13 | 1.21 |
| | R_neg (2) | 54 | 3.70% | 27 | 0.50 | 1.61 | 5 | 0.09 | 0.84 |
| INTERP+OFFTOP | | 62 | 4.25% | 11 | 0.18 | 0.58 | 2 | 0.03 | 0.28 |
| PROFAN+HUMOR | | 30 | 2.06% | 33 | 1.10 | 3.55 | 6 | 0.20 | 1.86 |
| OFFTOP+HUMOR | | 144 | 9.87% | 61 | 0.42 | 1.36 | 13 | 0.09 | 0.84 |
| EMOTONE(neg)+ | | 89 | 6.10% | 53 | 0.60 | 1.94 | 24 | 0.27 | 2.51 |
| METACOM(neg) | | 40 | 0 7 40/ | 0 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | EMOTONE(pos)+ | | 2.74% | 0 | 0.00 | 0.00 | U | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| METACOM(neg) | | 00 | 4 540/ | 00 | 4.05 | 0.00 | - | 0.00 | 0.4.4 |
| EMOTONE(neg)+ | | 22 | 1.51% | 23 | 1.05 | 3.39 | 5 | 0.23 | 2.14 |
| RATING(neg) | | 20 | 1.000/ | 10 | 0.57 | 1 0 4 | ٨ | 0 4 4 | 1 00 |
| | | 20 47 | 1.92% | 10 | 0.57 | 1.84 | 4 | 0.14 | 1.30 |
| | | 41 54 | 3.22% | 7 | 0.02 | 0.00 | 2 | 0.04 | 0.37 |
| METACOM(neg)+WE/US | | 54 | 3.70% | 1 | 0.13 | 0.42 | 1 | 0.13 | 1.21 |

Continued on next page.

| | | Comments | | Ratings of 3 | | | Ratings of 4 | | |
|--------------------|--------------|---------------|------------|--------------|------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---------|
| | | matching code | | 3 | | | 5 | | |
| | | # | % of total | # | per | vs. all | # | per | vs. all |
| All comments | | 1459 | 100.00% | 452 | 0.31 | | 157 | 0.11 | |
| OFFTOP | no (0) | 814 | 55.79% | 81 | 0.10 | 1.20 | 3888 | 4.78 | 1.42 |
| | yes (1) | 645 | 44.21% | 41 | 0.06 | 0.72 | 1036 | 1.61 | 0.48 |
| MARKOS | none (0) | 633 | 43.39% | 41 | 0.06 | 0.72 | 960 | 1.52 | 0.45 |
| | anti (1) | 333 | 22.82% | 54 | 0.16 | 1.91 | 2643 | 7.94 | 2.35 |
| | pro (2) | 189 | 12.95% | 11 | 0.06 | 0.72 | 563 | 2.98 | 0.88 |
| | neut (3) | 170 | 11.65% | 9 | 0.05 | 0.60 | 488 | 2.87 | 0.85 |
| | inde (4) | 134 | 9.18% | 7 | 0.05 | 0.60 | 270 | 2.01 | 0.60 |
| AGREE | agree (1) | 473 | 32.42% | 28 | 0.06 | 0.72 | 1345 | 2.84 | 0.84 |
| | disagree (2) | 784 | 53.74% | 81 | 0.10 | 1.20 | 3336 | 4.26 | 1.26 |
| | indete (3) | 202 | 13.85% | 13 | 0.06 | 0.72 | 243 | 1.20 | 0.36 |
| RESERV | no (0) | 1428 | 97.88% | 120 | 0.08 | 0.96 | 4827 | 3.38 | 1.00 |
| | yes (1) | 31 | 2.12% | 2 | 0.06 | 0.72 | 97 | 3.13 | 0.93 |
| PROFAN | no (0) | 1244 | 85.26% | 92 | 0.07 | 0.84 | 3716 | 2.99 | 0.89 |
| | yes (1) | 215 | 14.74% | 30 | 0.14 | 1.67 | 1208 | 5.62 | 1.67 |
| EMOTONE | positive (1) | 312 | 21.38% | 18 | 0.06 | 0.72 | 713 | 2.29 | 0.68 |
| | negative (2) | 332 | 22.76% | 52 | 0.16 | 1.91 | 1420 | 4.28 | 1.27 |
| | indete (3) | 815 | 55.86% | 52 | 0.06 | 0.72 | 2791 | 3.42 | 1.01 |
| INTERP | no (0) | 1350 | 92.53% | 114 | 0.08 | 0.96 | 4507 | 3.34 | 0.99 |
| | yes (1) | 109 | 7.47% | 8 | 0.07 | 0.84 | 417 | 3.83 | 1.13 |
| WE/US | no (0) | 1273 | 87.25% | 100 | 0.08 | 0.96 | 4147 | 3.26 | 0.97 |
| | yes (1) | 186 | 12.75% | 22 | 0.12 | 1.44 | 777 | 4.18 | 1.24 |
| HUMOR | no (0) | 1250 | 85.68% | 103 | 0.08 | 0.96 | 4547 | 3.64 | 1.08 |
| | yes (1) | 209 | 14.32% | 19 | 0.09 | 1.08 | 377 | 1.80 | 0.53 |
| METACOM | no value (0) | 1134 | 77.72% | 93 | 0.08 | 0.96 | 2701 | 2.38 | 0.71 |
| | M_pos (1) | 28 | 1.92% | 0 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 37 | 1.32 | 0.39 |
| | M_neg (2) | 297 | 20.36% | 29 | 0.10 | 1.20 | 2186 | 7.36 | 2.18 |
| GROUP | no value (0) | 1428 | 97.88% | 118 | 0.08 | 0.96 | 4666 | 3.27 | 0.97 |
| | G_pos (1) | 5 | 0.34% | 1 | 0.20 | 2.39 | 26 | 5.20 | 1.54 |
| | G_neg (2) | 26 | 1.78% | 3 | 0.12 | 1.44 | 232 | 8.92 | 2.64 |
| RATING | no value (0) | 1367 | 93.69% | 111 | 0.08 | 0.96 | 4672 | 3.42 | 1.01 |
| | R_pos (1) | 38 | 2.60% | 3 | 0.08 | 0.96 | 84 | 2.21 | 0.65 |
| | R_neg (2) | 54 | 3.70% | 8 | 0.15 | 1.79 | 168 | 3.11 | 0.92 |
| INTERP+OFFTOP | | 62 | 4.25% | 2 | 0.03 | 0.36 | 106 | 1.71 | 0.51 |
| PROFAN+ | HUMOR | 30 | 2.06% | 2 | 0.07 | 0.84 | 74 | 2.47 | 0.73 |
| OFFTOP+HUMOR | | 144 | 9.87% | 16 | 0.11 | 1.32 | 185 | 1.28 | 0.38 |
| EMOTON | E(neg)+ | 89 | 6.10% | 14 | 0.16 | 1.91 | 681 | 7.65 | 2.27 |
| METACC | M(neg) | 40 | 0 7 40/ | • | 0.05 | 0.00 | 400 | 4 50 | 4.00 |
| EMOTONE(pos)+ | | 40 | 2.74% | 2 | 0.05 | 0.60 | 183 | 4.58 | 1.36 |
| METACOM(neg) | | 00 | 4 540/ | 4 | 0.40 | 0.45 | 400 | 4 0 0 | 4 40 |
| EMOTONE(neg)+ | | 22 | 1.51% | 4 | 0.18 | 2.15 | 106 | 4.82 | 1.43 |
| | | 20 | 1 0 0 0 / | e | 0.04 | 0 54 | 170 | 6 20 | 1 00 |
| | | ∠ŏ 17 | 1.92% | ю F | 0.21 | 2.01 1.00 | 179 | 0.39 2 77 | 1.09 |
| | 03/700/03 | 41 51 | 3.2270 | 5 F | 0.11 | 1.02 | 111 | 3.11 7 E0 | 1.1Z |
| WETACOM(neg)+WE/US | | 54 | 3.10% | 5 | 0.09 | 1.00 | 410 | 1.59 | 2.20 |